HAEMODIALYSIS TREATMENT MONITORED ON-LINE BY ULTRA VIOLET ABSORBANCE

FREDRIK UHLIN

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE AND CARE DIVISION OF NURSING SCIENCE & DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING

> LINKÖPING 2006



Linköping University



Linköping University

To Pia, Rebecca & David

Fredrik Uhlin

Haemodialysis Treatment Monitored On-line by Ultra Violet Absorbance

Medical Dissertation no 962

Copyright ©	Fredrik Uhlin 2006
Supervisor	Lars-Göran Lindberg, Ass. Prof.
Co-Supervisor	Martin Magnusson, MD. PhD.
Cover art (front)	NASA photo gallery, "the Sun"
Cover art (back)	Per Lagman, MediaCenter, Linköping University Hospital
Illustrations	Fredrik Uhlin
Typography	Claes Asker, PhD

Contact:	
Phone:	+ 46 13 221804
Fax:	+ 46 13 224514
Email:	Fredrik.Uhlin@lio.se

Address: Fredrik Uhlin Department of Nephrology, University Hospital of Linköping SE-581 85 Linköping Sweden

ISBN 91-85643-65-3 ISSN 0345-0082 Dissertation 962

Printed in Linköping, Sweden by LiU-Tryck Linköping, 2006

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the author.

Science is to confirm how something is, not how it should be, and beyond its domain different kinds of appraisements and ethical judgements are always needed (my translation). Einstein A (1879-1955)

Preface

THIS THESIS IS BASED upon work performed at the Department of Nephrology, University Hospital of Linköping, County Council of Östergötland and the Departments of Medicine and Care (IMV), Division of Nursing Science and Biomedical Engineering (IMT), Linköping University.

As a registered nurse with several years working experience of haemodialysis patients, it has been a great challenge to participate in the development of a new technique, which in the future may be used by staff in haemodialysis units, perhaps in haemodialysis at intensive care and perhaps even by patients themselves during home haemodialysis. Furthermore, this work has attempted to bridge the gap between patient and technology as well as different professions such as biomedical engineering, medicine and nursing, thus bringing an interdisciplinary focus on dialysis monitoring into the sphere of biomedical optics.

The Swedish Competence Centre for Non-invasive Medical Measurements, NIMED supported the studies in this thesis. Financial support from the University Hospital, Linköping was given for parts of the work in Papers II and III.

A basic part of the thesis is the ultra violet (UV) light used for the measurements, a light that is invisible to the human eye. The star that is necessary for life on earth, our sun (front page) is an enormous UV-source. In this work a lamp has been used as a light source, when an old technique, spectroscopy, has been developed for a new application. The present thesis will show that the UV-technique is capable of estimating parameters in the same manner as for other already available systems. It is also shown that the UV- technique offers a unique opportunity to visualise the ongoing

clearance process during a dialysis treatment that is not possible by other available on-line monitoring techniques.

The future work that already has begun, when this thesis was written, will focus on new ways to look at dialysis clearance and investigate other markers for dialysis efficiency than those today.

I and my colleauges hope that this is only the beginning of something new that will eventually be of use to the dialysis patients in the future.

Fredrik Uhlin

Abstract

THIS THESIS DESCRIBES AND EVALUATES an optical method utilizing ultra violet (UV) absorbance for on-line monitoring of haemodialysis treatment. Increased efficiency of haemodialysis treatment is considered to correlate to decreased morbidity and mortality when urea clearance (Kt/V) is elevated. However, further improvements have not been achieved at a higher Kt/V. The mortality rate in the haemodialysis population is still high (27% in Sweden)

Urea as the clinical marker is under discussion, partly due to urea being non-toxic, but also that the uraemic syndrom is the result of a cumulative retention of innumerable involved compounds.

On-line monitoring systems based on urea determination for improved dialysis efficiency have been suggested and developed in different settings over the last two decades, but have not achieved worldwide utilisation as routine clinical equipment.

This thesis demonstrates that the UV-technique utilising 280, 285 and 297 nm is capable of estimating dialysis efficiency in therms of Kt/V, nutritional status in terms of protein catabolic rate (PCR), with the same characteristics as existing methods. One novel finding using UV-absorbance with high sampling rates is the on-line visualisation of the clearance process for following variations in clearance caused by clinical events and disturbances as well as during and after adjustments. The fact that the UV-absorbance technique does not measure urea directly but has high correlation to several other both UV-absorbing and not-absorbing solutes makes it suitable to reflect a more overall solute retention process. Finally, a new efficiency parameter based on the calculation of the area under UV- curve (clearance curve), is suggested to reflect the total removal of some solutes.

In summary the UV-technique has the potential to be an additional tool to evaluate improvements of dialysis efficiency, which may result in decreased morbidity, longer life span and enhanced quality of life for the haemodialysis patients.

List of Papers

- THE MATERIAL FOR THIS THESIS CONSISTS of five Papers, four are published in international scientific journals, and one is in manuscript. The Papers will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:
 - I. UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M: Estimation of delivered dialysis dose by on-line monitoring of the UV-absorbance in the spent dialysate. American Journal of Kidney Diseases, Vol 41, No 5 (May), 2003.
 - II. UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M: Estimation of total removed urea and protein catabolic rate by online monitoring of the UV-absorbance in the spent dialysate. Nephrology Dialysis & Transplantation, Vol 20, No 11 (Nov), 2005.
 - III. UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, MAGNUSSON M AND LINDBERG L-G: Dialysis dose (Kt/V) and the sensitivity of clearance variation using; on-line measurement of the UV-absorbance, ionic dialysance, dialysate-urea and blood-urea. Nephrology Dialysis & Transplantation, Vol 21, No 8 (Aug), 2006.
 - IV.UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, MAGNUSSON AND M LINDBERG L-G: Ultra violet absorbance on-line measurement utilized to monitor clinical events during haemodialysis. EDTNA-ERCA J, Journal XXXII, No 3 (Jul-Sep), 2006.
 - V. UHLIN F, PETTERSSON J, FERNSTRÖM A AND LINDBERG L-G: Complementary parameter for dialysis efficiency based on UVabsorbance monitoring. In Manuscript.

All published Papers are reprinted with permission granted by the publisher.

ADDITION:

□ *Paper III* has been selected for the Journal Club, with 500 members, to be discussed wordwide, and authors to answer questions, Aug-Sep 2006.

 \square *Paper IV* was written after invitation from the Journal Editor. The paper is based on the presentation (oral and poster) at the EDTNA-ERCA conference in Vienna, 2005

BESIDE THE PUBLICATIONS IN THIS THESIS, part of the material and additional findings has been published at the following conferences and in one non-reviewed paper.

– UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M. Noninvasive monitoring of haemodialysis - UV-absorbance, Regional meeting in nephrology /renal care. Apr. 2004 Linköping, Sweden

- UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M. Protein Catabolic Rate Estimated by On-line Monitoring of the UV-absorbance of the Spent Dialysate. American Society of Nephrology, ASN, renal week, Nov. 2004, St.Louis, Missouri, USA.

– UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M. Clearance variations monitored by on-line UV-absorbance during haemodialysis. Nordic Baltic Conference on Biomedical Engineering and Medical Physics (NBC) Jun 2005, Umeå, Sweden

– UHLIN F, FRIDOLIN I, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M. On-line monitoring of the spent dialysate during haemodialysis using UV-absorbance. European Dialysis Transplant Nurse Association – European Renal Care Association, EDTNA-ERCA, Sep 2005, Vienna, Austria. *Became the winner of poster scholarship*.

- FRIDOLIN I, UHLIN F AND LINDBERG L-G. Total removed uric acid during dialysis estimated by on-line ultra violet absorbance in the spent dialysate. European Medical and Biological Engineering Conference (EMBEC) 2005, Prague, Czech Republic

- UHLIN F. UV-light to monitor haemodialysis. Dialäsen No 1, 2006. Magazine in Swedish for staff in nephrology,

- UHLIN F. UV-spectroscopy-can it be used to quantify dialysis? European Society of Artificial Organs, ESAO, conference, Jun 2006, Umeå, Sweden

- FRIDOLIN I, UHLIN F, LINDBERG L-G AND MAGNUSSON M. Accurate estimation of delivered dialysis dose by on-line ultra violet absorbance in the spent dialysate. European Renal Association- European Dialysis and Transplantation Association, ERA-EDTA, Jul, 2006, Glasgow, United Kingdom

Contents

Abbreviations	
Introduction	17
Background	
The Kidney	
Renal failure	
Uraemia and its symptoms	
Urea	
Uraemic Toxins	
Living with End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD)	
Haemodialysis (HD)	
Blood access	
Transport of substances dialysis	
The Dialysate	
Haemodialysis complications	
Dialysis adequacy	
Total body water and compartment effects	
On-line monitoring equipment	
Urea monitors	
Enzymatic sensors	

Ionic dialysance	
Electromagnetic radiation	
Aims of thesis	
Subjects	
Ethics and normalization	50
The method of on-line monitoring of dialysis using absorption of radiation	ultra violet 51
Instrumentation during the studies	
Choice of reference	
Choice of wavelengths	
Methodlogical tests and considerations	53
In vitro tests	
Correlation to urea	56
Estimation of delivered dialysis dose (Papers I, III & V)	59
Sampling and laboratory analysis	
Calculation of Kt/V	60
Sensitiveness of variation in dialysis clearance	
Estimation of protein catabolic rate and total removed urea (Pape	er II) 65
Total dialysate collection	66
Estimation of TRU	67
PCR calculated from TRU	68

Monitoring clinical events by UV-absorbance (Paper III & IV) 69		
Area under curve as a parameter for dialysis efficiency (PaperV)73	;	
General Discussion77	,	
<i>Future and development</i> 81	1	
Summary and conclusions	;	
Acknowledgements	ŀ	
References	•	
Paper I		
Paper II		
Paper III		
Paper IV		
Paper V		

Abbreviations

AUCa²⁹⁷- area under the UV-absorbance curve at the wavelength of 297 nm CRF - chronic renal failure D - dalton DCTool - Dose Calculation Tool, software from Fresenius medical care ESRD - end-stage renal disease GFR - glomerular filtration rate HD - haemodialysis HPLC - high performance liquid chromatogram ID - ionic dialysance K - clearance Kt/V - dialysis dose MW - molecular weight OCM - On-line Clearance Monitor from Fresenius medical care. PCR - Protein Catabolic Rate nPCRw - Protein Catabolic Rate normalized to the bodyweight PD - peritoneal dialysis RF - renal failur TDC - Total Dialysate Collection TRU - Total Removed Urea URR - urea reduction ratio UM - Urea Monitor 1000, from Baxter Healthcare Corp. UV - ultraviolet λ - wavelength

Introduction

 $T_{\rm multifactorial\ concerns\ as\ a\ consequence\ to\ their\ End\ Stage\ Renal}$ Disease (ESRD): physically due to loss of kidney function, socially due to the time of dialysis treatment and psychologically due to the fact that suffering from a serious disease, with an uncertain future awakens existential concerns, with a high risk of complications and early death related both to disease and treatment.

The number of patients treated with ESRD in Sweden was 7377 in 2005 including patients in dialysis and patients living with a transplanted kidney¹. Of those, 3414 are treated with dialysis, 2697 in haemodialysis (HD), and 717 in peritoneal dialysis (PD). In the world the number of patients in haemodialysis is approximately 1.3 millon². This thesis will focus on the HD population.

There is a strong correlation between increased dialysis efficiency, (dialysis dose) evaluated as urea reduction in the blood during dialysis treatment, and decreased morbidity and longer life span³⁻⁵. Dialysis treatment can only to some extent replace the functions of the native kidney and other functions have to be corrected medically and by diet recommendations. Despite dialysis treatment there are still functions of the native kidney that cannot be replaced, which results in symptoms of uraemia more or less still remaining. The efficiency of dialysis treatment has, however, been improved over the last decades. The term "adecuacy of dialysis" include other factors than dialysis dose⁶ and its definition are in constant change. However, despite great improvements of the dialysis technique and anaemia correction during the 1990s the mortality rate in the dialysis population is still high, 27% /year in Sweden¹, but is varying between different contries. This can partly be explained by the fact that the population is ageing and there is no real age limit for being treated by

dialysis today. The uraemic syndrome with a trying treatment, especially to cardiovascular system ^{8,9} and often in combination with underlying comorbidity, may also explain the high mortality.

During the history of dialysis the physician evaluated the patient's treatment first by only reducing the symptoms but in later years an objective parameter has been used¹⁰. Blood-urea became an accepted parameter worldwide and several mathematical formulas were developed for dose calculations based on urea determination.¹¹ Finally a consensus was reached using the Daugirdas second-generation formula from 1993.¹²

Urea has several advantages e.g. easy to dialyse, easy to measure, reflects nutrition status; and its removal is considered to correlate with morbidity and mortality and has long clinical experience. But the role of urea as a marker is controversial ¹³ and the blood sampling procedure of post dialysis blood-urea has a risk of error due to how it is performed by the nursing staff.

During the last two decades urea on-line monitoring systems for dialysis efficiency have been developed with different settings, but without gaining a worldwide acceptance as a routine evaluation tool at dialysis units.¹⁴

With the patient in focus, the over all aim of this thesis was to develop and assess the UV-absorbance technique for on-line monitoring of dialysis patients.

Background

B^{EING} A PATIENT IN END STAGE RENAL DISEASE (ESRD) gives multidimensional consequences and involves many aspects in daily life¹⁵ as well as the life situation of next of kin to an ESRD patient often being affected dramatically¹⁶. Dialysis is a life-saving treatment for kidney failure and the patient often has to accept the new life situation and a considerable emotional adaptation to the technology, which maintain their lives.¹⁷ The uraemic symptoms are not complete resolved, despite dialysis treatment, and the patients have to learn to live with their symptoms¹⁸. The situation as a ESRD patient bound to the dialysis machine is surrounded by several stressors; physiological e.g. the toxic effect on almost all organic systems in the body function and disfiguring changes that occur to the body²⁰ e.g. scars from fistula constructions and needles²¹, disruption of basic needs such as thirst, sexuality¹⁹ and several other limitations compared to earlier life situation²². The health-related quality of life is profoundly affected in these patients²³.

The Kidney

The main functions of the kidney can be named as excretory, regulatory and metabolic. The excretory function is the excretion of water-soluble metabolic waste products e.g. urea, creatinine and uric acid. The kidney is responsible for the regulation of body water volume and osmolality, acidbase- and electrolyte balance. The metabolic area is the production and secretion of hormones, such as rennin and EPO (erythropoietin) and activation of vitamin D.

About 25% of the cardiac output at rest passes the kidneys, which allows a great glomerular filtration rate (GFR). The primary filtrated

volume can reach 180 L per day before reaborption of water and selection of dissolved substances from the tubular fluid back to the blood stream. The end product of this process are the secondary urine, 1-2 L / day, which leaves the body as urine.^{24, 25}

Renal failure

Renal failure (RF) is characterized by the progressive decline in the capacity of the kidneys to eliminate toxic solutes.²⁶ RF is divided into acute- (ARF) and chronic renal failure (CRF). ARF is an acute damage of the kidney tissues often reversible or partly reversible, caused by hypoxic, toxins etc. e.g. after serious trauma, surgery, intoxications.²⁷ CRF usually shows a progressive decrease of GFR and is usually irreversible and related to increased blood levels of azotemic substances. CRF develops in stages during different time periods, up to decades. Only in the last stage, ESRD, is renal replacement therapy e.g. haemodialysis needed. Most people with a decrease in renal function will never reach ESRD. It is worth mentioning that the renal function is decreased successively as a result of normal ageing. The most common causes of CRF are the primary renal diseases; chronic glomerulonephritis (of infectious or immune origin), polycystic disease, pyelonephritis (ascending infection of the urinary tract) and the secondary renal diseases; diabetes mellitus, renal arteriosclerosis e.g. due to hypertension (leading to nephrosclerosis), systemic vasculitis, amyloidosis, myeloma.²⁸

As described above CRF has a wide range of causes, but they all result in "uraemia" in the case of ESRD.

Uraemia and its symptoms

Uraemia is an intoxication wrote Jonas Bergström 1985.²⁹ Uraemia is derived from two Greek words, which mean urine in the blood. The uraemic syndrome involves almost all organs and organ systems and gives a number of symptoms, functional disturbance of enzymes, organells and cells leads to an overall change for the worse which untreated ends in coma and death. During the 1700-century, observations from Holland by

Boerhaave H. (1733) and in France by Rouelle H. (1752) described an unknown "soapy" substance in the urine.³⁰ Between 1797 and 1808 Fourcrov A. and Vauquelin N. isolated and crystallized this molecule and called it urea.³⁰ During the 1800-century several researchers investigated the mechanisms of clinical RF and methods detecting urea concentration in blood were developed and urea became accepted as a valuable practical marker of RF. But urea was not accepted as a toxic substance that causes the uraemic syndrome³⁰ and there we are still today. Despite several decades of pathophysiological studies, the uraemic syndrome remains not completely defined²⁶. The uraemic syndrome is a complex "intoxication" of retention of nitrogenous waste products resulting in multifactorial problems where the disturbances in several metabolic functions are reflected in clinical problems. Several organs and organ systems are affected; cardio-vascular system (hypertension, pericarditis and heart failure), peripheral nervous system (polyneuropati) central nervous system (poor memory, loss of concentration and slower mental ability), haematology (anaemia, bleeding tendencies), coagulation, immune status (immunosupression), endocrinology. loss of sexual function. gastrointestinal (anorexia, nausea. vomiting, changed taste). dermatological (pruritus, bleeding and bruising of the skin, yellow pigmentation of the skin), bones (skeletal damage and bone pain), hypercalemia, metabolic acidosis and biochemical alterations (enzymatic processes, drug binding etc.)^{27,31-33} Abnormalities such as cardiac hypertrophy and cardiomyopathy are frequent findings in renal failure³¹. Atherosclerosis is a major risk factor in patients with CRF³⁴ and increased mortality has been described³⁵. Atherosclerotic plaque grows faster in uraemic patients³⁶.

Urea

As previously mentioned, urea has been used as a marker of uraemic retention for over 100 years and its role as a marker for dialysis adequacy has been discussed and argued. Urea is an organic compound of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen and hydrogen, $(NH_2)_2CO$, and the molar mass is 60.07

g/mol. The so called urea cycle is carbon dioxide, water, asparate and ammonia in a metabolic pathway which is necessary because ammonia is a common metabolic waste product mostly from the breakdown of amino acids and must be neutralized due to its toxicity.

Urea is the most accepted uraemic marker, but there is a controversy as to its role in the uraemic intoxication³⁷. Urea seems to be a surrogate marker and representative for the removal of other solutes with impact on morbidity and survival¹³.

Uraemic toxins

Urea shows a kinetic behaviour that is not representative for all uraemic retained solutes, yet including other water-soluble solutes³⁸. Many of the solutes affecting metabolism have retention and elimination characteristics that are different from the traditional markers for uraemia, urea and creatinine³⁸. At least 90 organic compounds have been retained in uraemia¹³. The retained organic compounds may be divided into three groups, small, water soluble solutes with a molecule weight (MW) <500 Dalton (D) (e.g. urea and creatinine), protein-bound solutes (e.g. hippuric acid, indoxyl sulphate and P-cresol) and middle molecules MW >500 D (e.g. β-2 microglobulin, Cystatin C, IL 6 and Leptin)¹³. Solutes removed by an artificial kidney, dialyser, during hemodialysis differ in part from those eliminated by the normal kidney³⁹. Uraemic toxins have been defined as compounds causing uraemic symptoms and/or functional disturbances in patients with renal failure⁴⁰. The uraemic syndrome is a result of the retention of compounds and also due to disturbed hormonal and enzymatic homeostasis²⁶.

A lot of research has tried to identify the uraemic toxin/toxins that may be responsible for the uraemic syndrome. The search for uremic toxins has been overestimated without taking into account that cumulative retention of innumerable compounds is involved⁴¹. Even inorganic compounds such as water, potassium and sodium may be called toxic as well, if they are insufficiently removed⁴². In vivo studies using rats, and also in humans, indicate that overload of uraemic toxins also accelerates the loss of renal function and disruption of glomerular architecture^{43, 44}. The protein binding is suspected to restrain removal during dialysis of several known toxins such as hippuric acid and indoxyl sulfate, which are cleared through the peritubular secretory pathway by the native kidney⁴⁵. This indicates that it is important saving renal residual function even in dialysis patients. Several protein-bound uraemic toxins have a negative impact on many functions such as residual renal function, glucose intolerance, inflammation, drug binding⁴⁶ and vascular damage.^{47, 48}

As earlier mentioned, urea as a marker for dialysis adequacy has been discussed and other molecules have been identified and purposed as more important concerning dialysis adequacy. The problem is that many of these compounds are difficult to remove by conventional HD due to either their protein binding and/or that their molecule size is greater than the pores in the membrane of the dialyser.

The research performed by the European Uraemic Toxin (EUTox) Work group has been followed with great interest forefronting the question: Could some of these identified molecules be measured with new techniques?

Since thirty years, the high performance liquid chromatogram (HPLC) technique, which utilizes UV after steps of molecule separations, has been used by several reaserchers to detect uraemic substances in plasma, serum and dialysate⁴⁹⁻⁵⁶.

Living with End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD)

A PERSON THAT HAS REACHED THE ESRD LEVEL has two alternatives to survive;

1) *Kidney transplantation* from a living or a dead donor gives a life similar to the life before renal failure. There are many medical factors that have to be fulfilled if transplantation can be done, which results in that a large group of patients treated with renal replacement therapy (dialysis) never will be suitable for transplantation during their life time. The lack of donors has resulted in a queue situation often of three years or more (Sweden), if the criterion for transplantation is fulfilled. During this time the patients usually have to be dialysed.

2) *Dialysis treatment* is available in two main modalities, haemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD). Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis (CAPD) is one variant of PD and an alternative when there still is a renal residual function left. PD is based on the osmotic pressure that is created in the peritoneum cave after infuse of a hypertone sterile solution containing electrolytes and dextrose into the peritoneal cavity through a permanently installed transcutaneous catheter. A substantial diffusion of waste products in combination with the osmosic power drains by convection the capillaries in peritoneum of plasma water, which after a few hours is drained into the orginal container. This process is repeated with fresh solution 4-6 times a day.

Haemodialysis

The first successful haemodialysis treatment in human was reported in 1944¹⁰. Haemodialysis as a routine treatment for RF was initiated in the 1960s and has become a main treatment for ESRD.

Haemodialysis has two main functions 1) ultrafiltration (UF) of excess fluid 2) diffusion of waste solutes and electrolytes, across a semipermiable membrane.

In a haemodialysis unit it is necessary to have a water plant, which produces clean water for the dialysis machines. Drinking water is normally used for the production of dialysis water, called RO-water (RO = reverse osmosis). The drinking water is passing through several steps of filters before it enters into the dialysis machine, Fig 1. The dialysis machine produces the dialysis fluid, called dialysate, by mixing RO-water, with electrolytes and bicarbonate.



Figure 1. Schematically set up of a dialysis treatment

Dialysis machines are available at several performance levels from different manufactures but all have the same main two functional parts. A blood part consisting of a blood pump, pumping the blood from the "artery needle" through the dialyser (artificial kidney) back to the patient via the "venous needle", Fig 2. For safety at the blood-side; blood flow, line pressures (arterious and venous), trans membrane pressure (TMP) and air trap are monitored constantly.



Fig. 2. The blood-part of the dialysis machine schematically

The second part, the dialysate-side, which removes waste solutes from blood and corrects the electrolyte, pH balance in the blood, and ultrafiltration of the blood from excess water by building up a negative pressure on the dialysate outlet, Fig 3. Safety in this part is maintained by constant monitoring of temperature, conductivity, UF control, volume control and a blood leak detector.

The dialyser is the functional unit, Fig 3, of the extracorporeal circuit and is available for different performances such as hollow fibre or parallel plate dialyzer and different material regarding membrane types e.g. cellulose, modified cellulose and synthetic membranes fibre type. The capillary dialyser (used in our studies) contains thousands of small semipermeable fibres that are permeable for small solutes which allow diffusion from blood side to dialysate side, but non-permeable for larger substances such as proteins and blood cells that have to be remain in the body.



Figure 3. Capillary dialyser, note that the blood- and dialysate-flow is in the opposite direction, which maintain the concentration gradient across the membrane, for a maximal solute removal performance

The urea removal during dialysis can be explained by a dialysate-side mass balance, Eq. 1, which indicates that the dialysate outlet substance concentration C_{Do} is linearly related to the blood inlet substance concentration C_{Bi} ⁵⁷. For urea, which is a small solute and is transported over the dialyser membrane mainly by diffusion this relationship can be expressed as:

$$C_{Do} = \frac{K}{Q_{Di}} C_{Bi} \tag{1}$$

where Q_{Di} is the rate of dialysate flow into the dialyzer in mL/min and K is the dialyser blood urea clearance in mL/min^{57,58}.

Blood access

To perform haemodialysis an access to the blood circuit is necessary. Arterio-Venous fistulas (AV-fistula), grafts and central dialysis catheters are the most common types of equipment. A well functioning blood access is a determining factor for an effective haemodialysis treatment. An AVfistula is often the first choice (in Sweden) when a blood access for haemodialysis is planned. A surgical connection between artery and vein is performed to increase the blood flow in the vein, where the dialysis needles then is inserted, Fig 4.



Figure 4. AV-fistula and two applyed needles, one delivers blood to the dialysis machine and one needle deliver the cleaned blood back to the patient

Transport of substances during haemodialysis

The primary goal of dialysis is to prevent the accumulation of toxic solutes in the patients' tissues by removing them from the blood⁵⁹. The removal of solutes from the blood compartment decreases the concentration of solutes, and sets up tissue to blood gradients all through the body that refill the blood compartment with solutes. The degree of each gradient is dependent on properties of both the membrane and the solute behaviour, for example transport rates over the membrane of the solute or solute mobilization from tissue in the body⁵⁹. The dialyser removes the solute that is the normal marker, urea, rapidly. The main transport mechanism of waste solutes during HD is diffusion over a semipermiable membrane in the dialyser, Fig 3, and it is in the nature of the diffusion process, that a higher gradient gives higher diffusion rates, which means that the diffusion is highest at the beginning of the dialysis treatment.

The other natural force filtering solutes across the semipermeable membrane in the dialyser is, convection where solutes movement occurs due to bulk movement of a solvent, as a result of a difference in hydrostatic pressure over the membrane created by the dialysis machine. The total clearance, K, will then be the sum of the diffusive and convective clearances in mL/min.

The low permeable dialyzers (low flux) cannot remove molecules with a weight greater than 10 000 D and the high permeable (high flux) membrane not greater than 30 000 D. This can be compared with the human basal membrane in glomerulus that is permeable for molecules up to the size of albumin of 69 000 D Fig 5.

The sieving coefficient of a substance, i.e. rate of movement of solute relative to solvent, gives information of the diffusion possibilities of the substance. Sieving coefficient 1 means that the substance is 100 % and 0 is 0 % permeability, respectively. Urea as a small sized molecule has sieving 1 in low flux, high flux membranes as well as the human glomerulus, but in case of larger molecules e.g. β_2 -microglobulin, Table 1, the sieving for glomerulus is 1, approximately 0.8 for high flux and near 0 for low flux membranes, Fig 5.



Figure 5. Illustration of sieving coefficients for urea, β 2-microglobulin and albumin through a low flux-, high flux membrane and glomerulus respectively

This means that molecules above a certain size will be accumulated in the body, which may give long-term complications in dialysis patients. Table 1 shows examples of molecules ordained according to their molecular weight in Dalton those are of interest in the treatment of ESRD patients in the clinical workday.

	e
Substance	Molecular weight in Dalton (D)
Albumin	69 000
β_2 -microglobulin	11 800
Uric acid	168
Creatinine	113
Phosphate	96
Urea	60
Calcium	40
Potassium	39
Sodium	23
Bicarbonate	61
Water	18

Table 1. A few molecules and their molecular weight

To improve the clearance of waste products that normally would be removed easily by the healthy kidney, e.g β_2 -microglobulin, dialysis techniques have become more sophisticated. The diffusive transport is overrepresented in HD, but dialysis modalities to enhance the convective transport of substances, similar to the human glomeruli are available, haemodialfiltration (HDF) and haemofiltration (HF), respectively.

The Dialysate

The fluid that is mixed by the dialysis machine is called dialysate. The dialysate is pumped normally with a flow rate of 500 ml/min (can be adjusted) through the dialyser at the opposite side, to the patients' blood, of the semipermiable membrane (Fig 3). The compositions of the dialysate create a concentration gradient to promote diffusion over the membrane. The pure dialysate not containing waste products from the patient has a composition with the purpose to normalising the plasma water, electrolytes, pH, and waste solute removal, in the patient. Table 2 shows the range of common solute concentration in dialysate and in serum (healty and uraemic), respectively^{27, 28}.

Solute	Concentration in the dialysate	Concentration in serum	
	(mmol/L)	(mmol/L) healthy	(uraemic)
Sodium	135-145	136-146	
Potassium	0-4	3.5-5.0	(4.5-6.5)
Calcium	1.0-2.0	2.2-2.6	
Magnesium	0.25-1.0	0.7-1.1	
Clorides	98-112	98-106	
Bicarbonate	27-38	22-28	
Glucose	0-11	3.3-5.6	
Acetate	2.5-10	<0.1	
Urea	0	3,5-8,2	(20-40)
Creatinine	0	70-115	(400-800)

Table 2. The concentration of solutes in dialysate compared to serum

Haemodialysis complications

The most common complications during haemodialysis are hypotension especially when the ultrafiltration rate is high and a large amount of fluid relative to the plasma volume is removed. The fluid rate removal in the dialyser exceeds the plasma-refilling rate in the patient and the blood pressure falls as a consequense of decreased cardiac filling. Muscle cramps is also rather common in association with hypotension as well as *nausea*, *vomiting and headache*, which besides hypotension can be an early a systemic and neurological syndrome called manifestation of disequilibrium, which in serious cases can lead to coma. One explanation of *disequilibrium syndrome* is that it is caused by rapid shifts of solutes probably in combination with changes in pH between the plasma in the intravascular compartment and the intracellular fluid in the brain cells. The plasma become hypotonic compared to the brain cells and water shifts from the plasma to brain tissue, which results in brain oedema. Complications related to the vascular access also occur^{27, 32,60,61}.

Dialysis adequacy

When kidneys fail, dialysis is necessary to remove waste products from the blood. One waste product is urea, but urea itself is not very toxic, but its level is suggested to represents the level of many other waste products that built up in the blood when kidneys fail. Two urea-based parameters are generally used to assess dialysis adequacy clinically today, also recommended by national and international guidelines⁶²⁻⁶⁴, namely urea reduction ratio (URR) and Kt/V. Twenty years ago dialysis adequacy was equal to Kt/V⁶⁵ but today, parameters based on urea clearance are only one component of dialysis adequacy⁶. "Adequate dialysis" should also involve other parameters considered in the care of dialysis patients such as volume status, blood pressure control, nutrition, and anaemia correction⁶.

The mathematically expression of URR⁶⁶, i.e. the reduction in urea as a result of dialysis in one dialysis treatment, is commonly expressed as a percentage:

$$URR = \frac{C_0 - C_t}{C_0} * 100\%$$
 (1)

(1)

 $\langle \mathbf{n} \rangle$

where C_0 and C_t are the blood urea concentrations before and at the end of the dialysis respectively, measured in mmol/L⁶². An average should exceed 65% ⁶². The urea kinetic parameter, Kt/V is expressed as:

$$Kt/V = -\ln\frac{C_t}{C_0}$$
⁽²⁾

where *K* is the dialyzer clearance expressed in mL/min, and *t* is the time in minutes. *V* is the distribution volume of urea in the body in mL, which means the volume of fluid that a patient's body contains. Assuming that urea is distributed in a single pool (sp) volume in the body is commonly used, urea generation rate and ultrafiltration are negligible during the session and that the ratio *K/V* remains constant over the dialysis. These assumtions lead to the equation.^{12, 67-69}

$$spKt/V = -\ln\left(\frac{C_t}{C_0} - 0.008\frac{T}{60}\right) + \left(4 - 3.5\frac{C_t}{C_0}\right)\frac{UF}{W}$$
 (3)

where T is the dialysis session length in min and UF is the total ultrafiltration in kg and W is the patient's dry body weight in kg.

Equation 3, the Daugirdas second-generation formula¹² has been recommended by guidelines for evaluation of HD.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ The fact that the body is a multicompartment environment and that urea generation is still going during dialysis treatment has made these calculations controversial and debatable. Studies have shown that compartment effects from immediate post-dialysis concentrations⁷⁰⁻⁷² could lead to significantly overestimations of urea removal. To take into account those effects *Kt/V* can be calculated in terms of equilibrated *Kt/V* (*eKt/V*).⁷³
The eKt/V are usually about 15-20 % lower than spKt/V and is predicted from the rate of dialysis (*K*/*V*) and the sp*Kt*/*V* according to the double-pool model (Schneditz -Daugirdas formula)⁷⁴, as:

$$eKt/V = spKt/V - \frac{0.6}{(T/60)}spKt/V + 0.03.$$
⁽⁴⁾

for peripheral arterio-venous blood access. The use of eKt/V gives more accurate quantification of intradialytic urea removal.

Several studies have demonstrated a relationship between dialysis doses, measured as Kt/V or URR and morbidity and mortality in haemodialysis patients^{3,4,75-78}, but several questions concerning how to define and determine the quality and adequacy of dialysis are under debate⁷⁹⁻⁸¹. Recent studies e.g. the HEMO-study show no difference in survival between patients being dialysed at Kt/V normal (1.3) compared to high Kt/V (1.7) ⁸². This must indicate that the clearance of small molecules, represented by urea, has an impact on patient outcome up to a certain level of Kt/V.

In the context of dialysis it should be considered that even if the HD characteristics remain constant it is difficult to attain a prescribed Kt/V due to a great variability among different haemodialysis sessions (e.g. variability in the whole body urea clearance)⁸⁰ also, in larger HD-patients, difficulties can arise in achieving the goal Kt/V⁸³. Variations in dialysis efficiency between different sessions may also be due to e.g. changes in blood flow, access recirculation, treatment time and decreased clearance of dialysers. This in turn may lead to inadequate dialysis treatment for the patients. The national and international guidelines recommend at least one monthly control of dialysis dose in terms of either URR or spKt/V.⁶²⁻⁶⁴

A

Total body water and compartment effects

In the body the total body water (TBW) is multicompartmentally distributed. The relative size of the amount of fluid in each compartment is shown in Fig 6. The greatest amount of fluid in the



Figure 6. Distribution of the total body water

body is distributed inside the cells (intracellular) and the next is placed between the cells (interstitial). The blood plasma that is accessible with dialysis equipment is approximately 7 % of TBW²⁴. The clearance process of solutes in TBW is therefore dependent on the intercompartmental transport rate of solutes; which varies between different solutes and osmotically active solutes can cause movement of water across a membrane. Healthy kidneys' "working" 24 hours/day and a kind of steady state are built up where the difference between compartments is small. After a dialysis treatment, on the other hand, disequilibrium gradually disperse but complete equilibrium for some solutes e.g. phosphate may not be restored for several hours⁸⁴. This means that there is a delay in actual concentration of solutes, in our case urea, at different compartments during and after haemodialysis treatment, where only the blood compartment is available for dialysis⁸⁵. This may in turn result in an overestimation of haemodialysis dose⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. Factors that affect post-dialysis rebound in urea concentration are access recirculation, cardiopulmonary recirculation and movement of urea from poorly accessible tissue compartments⁸⁹. This rebound effect, has to be taken into account during post dialysis blood sampling procedure when evaluating the efficinecy of dialysis⁶²⁻⁶⁴. Other factors that influence the solute movement in general are: electrostatic charge, hydrophilicity/phobicity, protein binding, multicompartment behaviour and resistance of cell membranes towards gradient dependent transfer.⁹⁰

The distribution volume of urea (V) is often an uncertain variable and may affect the calculation of dialysis dose, Kt/V. It has been stated that post 30 minutes dialysis, urea concentration is the most accurate method to calculate equilibrated Kt/V (eKt/V)⁹¹ but it is often clinically impractical, therefore studies have been performed investigating if intra dialytic urea measurements could replace the 30 min post dialysis sample.^{91,92}

On-line monitoring of dialysis efficiency in the spent dialysate has been suggested to have several advantages; one of them is elimiation of the uncertain post dialysis urea concentration value.

On-line monitoring equipment

A RE ON-LINE MONITORING EQIPMENT TOOLS OR TOYS? ⁹⁶ This is an important question that must be asked during the development of new technical equipment. Which parameters can be monitored in the care of dialysis patients? Are we drowning in too much information? Is there any risk in using the equipment?

Several on-line monitoring systems for haemodialysis using different technologies have been developed over the years, able to monitor blood pressure, ultrafiltration (UF) control, temperature, conductivity and blood flow, during hemodialysis⁹⁷. The existence of automatic control of several parameters is obvious and is clearly related to the safety and performance of the treatment, and several technical modalities are incorporated in the dialysis machines today. Other automatic control systems such as monitors for blood volume changes, hematocrit and O₂ (Crit-line) and dialysis dose monitors are not equipped as standard by all manufactures of dialysis machines.

"Urea monitoring during dialysis: the wave of future" wrote Lindsay R et al. 15 years ago⁹⁸ and since then several authors have suggested that online, real-time dialysis monitoring during every dialysis treatment is a valuable tool to ensure the desired quality for all dialysis treatments⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁴. However on-line therapy, adequacy-monitoring systems have not found a wide utilization as clinical routines. Possible reasons could be high initial and running costs, need of disposals and extra work for the staff. The only available system for dialysis adequacy estimation is the ionic dialysance method.¹⁰⁵ This method can easily be integrated into the dialysis machine and no disposals are needed. The method is described below.

Urea monitors

Enzymatic sensors

Monitors that more or less continously measure urea concentration in a flow of fluid have disappeared from the market today. The monitors applied on the spent dialysate are Biotrack (Bio-Care Corp., Hsinchu, Taiwan)¹⁰⁶, DQM (Gambro Lundia AB, Lund, Sweden)^{107,108} and BioStat 1000 (Baxter Healthcare Corporation, McGaw Park, Illinois) used in Papers I and II¹⁰⁹.

There are some differences in the analysis method for determining urea concentration in these devices. The BioStat 1000 (UM) used in Studies I and II, will be shortly described here. The technique is designed to measure urea concentration on-line in the effluent dialysate stream. The UM utilizes an ammonium ion sensor that measures the amount of ammonium ion (NH_4^+) determined directly by an ion-specific electrode ^{103,109}.

$$CO[NH_2]_2 + H_2O \xrightarrow{\text{urease}} 2NH_3 + CO_2$$

$$NH_3 + H^+ \longrightarrow NH_4^+$$
(5)

Hydrolysis of urea, CO $[NH_2]_{2,}$ produces NH_4^+ , thus creating an electrical potential difference between two electrodes that is then amplified and recorded ^{103, 110}. A membrane with the enzyme urease is the catalyst to the chemical reaction when it comes in contact with urea in the spent dialysate. Fig. 7 shows an on-line measurement using the UM in Paper I. The concentration of urea in mmol/L is measured every 5 minutes and the exponential decay is demonstrated.



Fig. 7 shows a session were UM is used in paper I.

Dialysis adequacy has been validated in several clinical studies using the monitors listed above.¹¹⁰⁻¹²¹

Conductivity sensor; ionic dialysance

Since the early 1990s the concepts of conductivity measurements have been reported.^{105, 122} The conductivity methodology named as the effective ionic dialysance method (ionic dialysance = *ID*) is equipped in two dialysis mashines, the Diascan (COT, Hospal, Meyzeu, France) ¹²³⁻¹²⁹ and OCM (Fresenius Medical Care, Germany) ^{130,131} used in Paper III. The method can be defined as the dialysance of mobile electrolytes through the dialysis membrane corrected for recirculation and ultrafiltration. It is based on the fact that the diffusion coefficients of sodium and urea are similar at 37° C, through a dialysis membrane. Sodium dialysance can therefore be used as a marker for urea. The calculation of *ID* is based on measurements of dialysate conductivity, C (only here, otherwise c = conentration) at the dialyser inlet $(C_{d \text{ in}})$ and outlet $(C_{d \text{ out}})^{105,122}$ and the value of $C_{d \text{ out}}$ for a given $C_{d \text{ in}}$ is dependent on both the patient's plasma water conductivity and the ionic dialysance. In order to extract *ID*, measurements are performed at 2 levels of $C_{d \text{ in}}$.

Assuming that *ID* is equivalent to the urea clearance *K*, the parameter Kt/V can be assessed.¹³³⁻¹³⁶ The use of anthropometrical calculations often results in an oversestimated V, which gives an underestimated Kt/V^{93, 94}. Fresenius has developed a software Dose Calculation Tool (DCTool; Fresenius Medical Care, Germany) used in Paper III, where a more accurate V is calculated using blood samples and clearance from OCM.

Studies have focused on determining an accurate V either assessed by conductivity monitoring⁹⁵ and it has also been suggested that the product of Kt, in mL/min is a better expression of dialysis clearance, due to V not being involved.

Electromagnetic radiation

SEVERAL GREAT AND FAMOUS SCIENTISTS have studied and described the nature of light e.g. Isaac Newton, James Clerk Maxwell and Albert Einstein. It has been discussed if the light is a particle or a wave but in modern quantum mechanics it has been stated that the light has a nature of both, "the doubel nature of the light"¹³⁷. Visible electromagnetic radiation, and other electromagnetic radiation, acts like waves and at the same time they act like a beam of particles that is the carrier of light and named photons. The shorter the wavelength of the photon the more energy it carries. Shorter wavelengths have therefore different effects, e.g. infra red (IR) is felt as heat, visual (Vis) radiation excites the chemistry of the eye and ultra violet (UV) radiation may lead to burns, but long radio waves are generally benign¹³⁷. Fig 8 shows an illustration of the electromagnetic spectrum range.



Figure 8. Electromagnetic spectrum from the shortest wavelength, gamma radiation to longest, radio waves.

Free from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Electromagnetic_radiation

Visual (Vis) light is per definition electromagnetic radiation between 390-770 nm and IR 760 nm-0.5 mm. Even if the UV wavelength range 190-380 nm was considered in an early stage, the wavelength 280, 285 297 nm was exclusively utilized in this thesis (Paper I-V).

In order to utilize electromagnetic radiation in the UV-range and solute absorbance the sample is often applied in a cuvette, Fig 9 placed in an instrument, called a spectrophotometer, where different wavelengths can be selected as single ones or scanned over an optical wavelength range. The spectrophotometer determines the amount of the ingoing light that is absorbed by the sample. The intensity of the light illuminating the sample is symbolized by I_0 and I, Fig. 9, symbolizes the intensity of the light after passing the sample.



Figure 9. A cuvette containing solution. The absorbance is dependent on the path length l, the concentration of solutes c, and the millimolar absorptivity by the solute, ε

The Beer- Lambert law states that the absorbance of light intensity is proportional to the concentration of the substance. It means that the amount of UV-light absorbed when passing through a cuvette (manufactured by UV-transparent material such as quartz) with spent dialysate is linearly dependent on the concentration c [mol/L] of the absorbing solute, the optical pathlength in (l) [m] (the thickness of the

cuvette) and the extinction coefficient ε [m⁻¹ (mol/L)⁻¹] (even called the molar absorptivity), Fig. 9, at a certain wavelength (λ).¹³⁸

If I_0 is the intensity of the incident light and I is the intensity transmitted light through the medium, is the absorbance (A), dimensionless.

$$A = \log_{10} \frac{I_0}{I} = \varepsilon \ cl \tag{6}$$

If ε is known for a substance the absorbance (A) can be calculated by multiplying the pathlength (depth of the cuvette) and the concentration of the substance. If ε is known for a substance and A is obtained from a measurement, it is possible to derive the concentration as:

$$c = \frac{A}{\varepsilon l} \tag{7}$$

In our case, when the spent dialysate contains several different absorbing compounds, the overall extinction coefficient is the linear sum of the contributions of each compound. However all the components are not identified and probably there is interference between different substances which make it difficult to separate and determine the concentrations of each solute.

A of a mixed solution, obtained by a double beam spectrophotometer, is given by the Lambert -Beer law as 139,140 :

$$A = \log \frac{I_0}{I_{r+s}} - \log \frac{I_0}{I_r} = \log \frac{I_r}{I_{r+s}}$$
(8)

where I_0 is the intensity of incident light from the light source I_r is the intensity of transmitted light through the reference solution (e.g. pure dialysate) and I_{r+s} is the summated intensity of transmitted light through

the reference solution mixed with the solution under study (e.g. pure dialysate + waste products from the blood).

Aims of the thesis

The overall AIM was to assess the UV-absorbance technique for on-line monitoring of dialysis patients.

The specific AIMS of the studies were to:

- compare the delivered dialysis dose in terms of Kt/V calculated from the UV absorbance in the spent dialysate on-line, with different available methods
- compare the delivered dialysis dose and the sensitiveness for clearance variation using the UV absorbance at the wavelength of 297 nm and different available methods
- compare the total removed urea and protein catabolic rate estimated with UV absorbance in the spent dialysate on-line with different available methods
- show that the UV-absorbance curve instantaneously can reflect clearance variations and disturbances of different origin
- suggest a new efficiency parameter, the area under UV-curve, that may give a better measure of the dialysis efficiency compared to other methods

Subjects

THE PATIENTS IN STUDY I-IV WERE ALL selected from the Department of Nephrology, University Hospital in Linköping. The inclusion criteria were clinically stability and a well functioning vascular access. The meaning of stable was specified as; dialysis treatment of the patient normally pass without problems and interruptions, patient related as well as vascular access related. The selection of stable patients was important to reduce the risk of disturbances and influences of different kinds; which could raise difficulties when evaluating the UV-method in the early development phase. The low number of interruptions and alarm situations in Paper IV confirm the population of a non-problematic patient group. In Paper V, 6 patients were randomised from one patient group of 20 individuals. In this study problematic treatments were preferable. The last (7 th) patient, included in Study V, was selected due to repeated vascular problems. More detailed information about the studied patients is presented in each paper, respectively.

Number of patiens and number of studied dialysis sessions in the studies: Paper I, 13 patients, in 84 dialysis sessions Paper II, 10 patients, in 40 dialysis sessions Paper III, 6 patients, in 18 dialysis sessions Paper IV, 16 patients, in 108 dialysis sessions Paper V, 7 patients, in 7 dialysis sessions

Several patients occur in several studies and a total number of 23 different patients have been studied during 116 dialysis sessions within a time period of 8 years (1998-2006).

Ethics and normalization

All clinical tests have been performed after approval by the Ethical Committee in Linköping, Sweden. The patients have been informed orally and in written. The patients were also informed that they could drop out the study whenever they liked, whithout explaination or any changes in their normal dialysis treatment and care. The author has also been present during the experiments and has answered any questions that arose.

Only in a few dialysis sessions was the treatment changed compared to the normal treatment of the patients. In Paper III in one session of three the blood flow for all patients was reduced. To exclude any risks of hyperkalemia the plasma potassium was checked before start of treatment. In Paper II i.e. the subgroup in paper I all patients used the same type of dialyser to standardise the material. In Paper V all patients used the same low or high flux membrane dialyser to minimize the number of different dialysers with different characteristics.

Safety aspects of the instrumentation connected to the drain tube of the dialysis machine was discussed thoroughly by the researchers and also by the local Medical Technical Department at Linköping University Hospital. The potential risk at inspection was leakage current if the cuvette should be broken and fluids reach the electrical parts of the spectrophotometer. This in turn could establish a current through the patient via the fistula with a potential risk of heart failure. Several safety actions were taken e.g. the measuring chamber water thight and strengthening the drain tubes' attachment to the cuvette and earth connection of the spectrophotometer. Finnaly staff from the Medical Technical Department gave an approval.

The method of on-line monitoring of dialysis using absorption of ultra violet radiation

I WAS A CHALLENGE TO INVESTIGATE to adapt the technique of UV spectroscopy to an on-line monitoring performance, measuring online up to 5 hours. UV-radiation of 254 nm in transmission mode through an external loop of spent dialysate was reported 25 years ago by Gal and Grof, ^{142,143} but further development has not been presented. Another technique, used in laboratory environment that utilizes UV-absorbance, is high performance liquid chromatogram (HPLC) for separation and identification of contents of complex biological fluids. ⁵³⁻⁵⁵

Instrumentation during the studies

Two instruments have been used for the determination of UV-absorbance during the work. An UV/Vis spectrophotometer UVIKON 943, Kontron, Italy was used in study I-IV and an UV/Vis/NIR spectrophotometer JASCO V-570, JASCO Corp., Tokyo, Japan, in study V, with an accuracy of $\pm 1\%$ and $\pm 0.3\%$, respectively.

During on-line measurement a specially designed circular flow cuvette was used in Paper I-IV and a quadratic cuvette manufactures by JASCO was used in Paper V. In both cases the cuvette depth = optical pathlength was approximately 10 mm. This ensured an unobstructed dialysate flow through the cuvette (usually 500 mL/min) and a sufficient absorbance signal level, Fig 10.



Figure 10. Flow cuvette, where UV-light enters and leaves the flowing spent dialysate

Choice of reference

During on-line measurement the pure dialysate was used as the reference (see Beer-Lambert law I_r = pure dialysate) and a fixed wavelength had to be chosen for the whole treatment. The absorbance baseline level was, after the pure flowing dialysate had been stabilized in temperature and conductivity, set to zero when the pure dialysate was flowing through the cuvette, Fig 10.

Choice of wavelength

Earlier studies of correlation between UV and urea indicated that the wavelength range 280 to 320 was to be preferred for on-line mearurement ¹⁴⁴. In Papers I and II the wavelength of 280 nm and 285 nm were used. In Papers III and V, 297 nm was used, in order to clearly lie inside the suitable wavelength range.

Methodological tests and considerations

Urease producing bacteria have been mentioned as a source of error when collecting spent dialysate e.g. in a tank during, total dialysate collection (TDC). ¹⁴⁵ To minimize the risk of bacterial contamination of the TDC samples (Papers II, V) a careful cleaning of the tank with antibacterial solution was performed after each treatment. A bacteriological growth test was performed sending spent dialysate taken from the tank at 15 min and at 270 min, to the bacterial laboratory for analysis. No growth of bacteria was observed.

The laboratory samples were analyzed of urea concentration within 1-4 hours in Papers I-III and within 1-2 hours in Paper V, after end of treatment. Therefore the first samples taken being analysed up to 9 h after sampling. The influence of time variation was therefore also tested. A sample with spent dialysate was divided into 7 test tubes and sent to the laboratory one per day for seven days. There were no significant differences in urea concentration in those analyses.

A poorly mixed dialysate in the tank in Papers II and V may also hypothetically be a source of error. To evaluate this, samples were taken from the tank at two different places, after stirring and sent to the laboratory for analysis (n = 30). No significant differences were found.

The measurement accuracy of the instrumentation at the laboratory was tested by sending identical samples in 10 different test tubes. The difference between tested concentrations was in accordance with the error of \pm 5% reported by the laboratory at that time.

A baseline test was performed, on the flowing pure dialysate, to investigate if the UV-absorbance was sensitive to changes in temperature, conductivity, dialysate flow, vibrations, and movements of the cuvette. The test shows that movements of the cuvette and hard thrusts against the spectrophotometer could result in disturbance in the UV-measurement and even baseline displacement. The UV-absorbance was not affected by maximum variations in conductivity and dialysate flow rate of pure dialysate. When the temperature of the dialysate fluid was maximal changed (from 35-40° C), the variation was only of 0.001 Absorbances

(A), which then could be disregulated compared to the measure range 0.5-4 A.

As a test of instrumental stability, UV-absorbance at 297 nm was measured on-line on the flowing pure dialysate during 5 hours, and the variation seen was a drift of the instrument of 0.001 A, again considered to not influence the measurements.

In vitro tests

In the first clinical study (Paper I) a mean difference of 8% was found between eKt/V calculated from UV-absorbance compared to blood. This difference was suggested to depend on the fact of that with UV (at the studied wavelengths), reflected clearance of other molecules with slightly larger molecule weight and lower elimination rate. This assumption was tested under experimentally controlled situations. An in vitro test was performed with total control of the urea distribution volume (V), where a cistern (10 L) of spent haemofiltrate was used as "patient" and dialysed for 2 h, the set-up is shown in Fig. 11.



Figure 11. Set up during on-line in vitro tests. The can was filled with spent ultrafiltrate or spent dialysate

To raise the urea concentration to plasma levels, 5 g /10L urea (urea from Sigma Chemical co, St.Louis, MO, USA) was added. The result of 10 in vitro sessions showed that clearance of UV-absorbing solutes was approximately 10% lower than clearance for urea concentration in the spent dialysate. Fig. 12 shows a 120 min dialysis session where 10L spent haemofiltrate was dialysed.



Figure 12. In vitro measurement on-line, where UV-absorbance at 285 nm, is plotted against time, during simulated dialysis.

Lower elimination rate of UV absorbing solutes may not be the whole explanation to the difference. In Study III it was found that the number of measuring points affected the slope and therefore Kt/V more than first expected. The slope of UV-absorbance was lowered if more samples were added to the curve; the same phenomenon was seen in blood- and dialysate- urea concentration if more values were included in the slope (Paper III ¹⁴⁶).

Correlation to urea

If the dialysis dose in terms of Kt/V should be estimated by UVabsorbance there must exist a good correlation between urea concentration and UV-absorbance ^{141,147}. Urea is not an UV-absorbing solute at the wavelength (280, 285, 297 nm) used for on-line monitoring.

The correlation between dialysate urea concentration and UVabsorbance is very high r = 0.99-1.00 for every single session Fig 13. However, when plotting all patients (n = 40) in Paper II, Fig. 14, the regression coefficient decreases to 0.68 despite that all patients used the same typ of dialyser.



Figure 13. The correlation between dialysate-urea and UV-absorbance in a single treatment where 10 samples of urea concentration were taken from the drain tube (Paper II)



Figure 14. The correlation between dialysate urea concentration and UVabsorbance (Paper II).

Fig 14 shows a correlation coefficient of 0.68 between UV-absorbance and dialysate urea concentration in 40 treatments (10 patients). The low correlation on a group level is probably due to several patient related factors. The discrepancy is larger at higer urea concentration in the beginning of the treatment. This maybe due to the fact that UVabsorbance reflects the amount of other solutes with varying removal rates. The used dialyser type was the same in all treatments (n = 40), sub group in Paper I, which means that the observed discrepancy in a group level not is related to different dialyser conditions.

In addition to the study in Paper III, the correlation for each patient was tested in 3 treatments (6 patients) and r varied between 0.98 and 0.99.

In summery it seems as the correlation between urea concentration and UV-absorbance is patient specific and, at least, stable for three weeks (Paper II^{146}).

Estimation of delivered dialysis dose (Papers I, III & V)

W HEN INTRODUCING A NEW METHODOLGY first a comparative study with existing methods for dialysis quality evaluations concerning absolute values and standard deviation (SD) should be made. Both the well-established Kt/V calculations from blood-urea but also commercially existing on-line monitoring alternatives should be included. In the first study (Paper I) comparisons were made with eKt/V calculated from blood-, dialysate-urea and the earlier commercially available UM from Baxter. Paper III includes a similar comparison but the UM was replaced by OCM from Fresenius. In this study a lowering of clearance was also performed in one of three subsequent treatments of each patient.

Sampling and laboratory analysis (all Papers)

Blood samples were drawn before the start of dialysis treatment (C_0) and immediately at the end of the treatment (C_i) in Papers I-V. The slow flow sampling technique was used in paper III and V⁶². Dialysate samples were taken before dialysis (pure dialysate), used as the reference solution during scannings, when the dialysis machine was prepared for starting and the conductivity was stable, and after 5, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240 minutes (270, 300 if the treatment was longer than 240 minutes) in Papers I-V. If a periodical self-test or alarm occurred during a timetabled sampling, the sample was instead taken after 1 to 3 minutes depending on whether the UV-absorbance monitoring curve had been stabilized. In Paper V a logging computer guided the samplings to not interfer with the self-tests.

The concentrations of urea were determined at the Clinical Chemistry Laboratory at Linköping University Hospital using standardised methods. The accuracy of the method for determination of urea in dialysate and blood was \pm 5% paper I-IV, \pm 4% in Paper V and in dialysate for creatinine \pm 5%, urate \pm 3% and finally phosphate \pm 5% in Paper V.

Calculation of Kt/V

From the differential equation, describing urea mass balance during a dialysis session, it can be determined that the average value of the Kt/V during a session may be approximated as the slope from the natural logarithm (ln) plot of the urea blood concentration in the blood, S_B versus time. Hence:

$$Kt/V \approx -S_B T \approx -S_D T \tag{9}$$

where T is the dialysis session length in min and V is the distribution volume of urea in the body in mL. This equation would hold strictly if urea obeys fixed volume and single pool kinetics and no urea is generated during the session ¹⁴⁸. S_B may be replaced by the slope from the natural logarithmic plot of the urea concentration in the spent dialysate (S_D) versus time. In order to calculate Kt/V from the on-line UV-absorbance, the slope of blood and dialysate urea concentration was replaced by the slope of the UV absorbance (Sa) versus time (*Kt/V* \approx - *Sa* * *T*), Paper I ¹⁴⁹.

Assuming that urea is distributed in a single pool volume in the body, that urea generation rate and ultrafiltration are negligible during the session and that the ratio K/V remains constant over the dialysis the following equation holds: $^{65-68}$

$$Kt/V = -\ln\frac{C_t}{C_0} \tag{10}$$

According to Equations 9 and 10 we obtain:

$$\frac{C_t}{C_0} \approx \exp(-Kt/V) \approx \exp(S_B T) \approx \exp(S_D T) \approx \exp(S_a T)$$
(11)

if the slopes are used instead of the blood urea concentrations, which is the equivalent when using two measuring points, and the previously mentioned assumptions are fulfilled.



Figure 15. A typical UV-absorbance curve (wavelength 285 nm) where the absorbace is plotted against time. The natural logarithmic slope (ln) is also shown (Paper I).

Using the UV-absorbance slope, Fig 15, according to Equation 3 the Daugirdas-based monocompartmental equation can be written as:

$$spKt/Va = -\ln\left(\exp(S_aT) - 0.008\frac{T}{60}\right)$$

$$+ \left(4 - 3.5\exp(S_aT)\right)\frac{UF}{W}$$
(12)

61

The equilibrated Kt/V from UV-absorbance, eKt/Va, according to the rate adjustment method 69 , is predicted from the rate of dialysis (K/V) and the spKt/V as:

$$eKt/Va = spKt/Va - \frac{0.6}{(T/60)}spKt/Va + 0.03$$
(13)

The rate adjustment method predicts that the urea rebound is related to the rate of dialysis or dialysis efficiency ⁷³. The clinical set up in Paper I is shown in Fig 16.



Figure 16. The clinical set up in Paper I. The spectrophotometer and the Urea Monitor 1000 is connected to the drain tube of the dialysis machine

Table 3 shows a summary of eKt/V from Papers I, III, V. Standard deviation (SD) were in the same magnitude for all compared methods and eKt/V from UV-absorbance showed a slightly lower eKt/V compared to blood in all studies.

Paper	UV	Blood	Dialysate	UM	OCM	Number	Number
number						treatments	patients
Ι	1.19 ± 0.23	1.30 ± 0.20	1.26 ± 0.21			84	13
I, subset	1.16 ± 0.18	1.23 ± 0.17	1.18 ± 0.15	1.24 ± 0.18		40	10
III	1.21 ± 0.20	1.30 ± 0.20	1.32 ± 0.21		1.31 ± 0.21	18	6
V	1.12 ± 0.18	1.16 ± 0.20	1.21 ± 0.22			7	7

Tabe 3. eKt/V in mean and $\pm SD$

Estimating urea-Kt/V using UV-absorbance seems to be possible with satisfying accuracy; the mean eKt/V-value was slightly lower, 8% in Paper I 149 , 7% in Paper III 146 and 4 % in Paper V, compared to blood-urea eKt/V.

Sensitiveness of variations in dialysis clearance

Next step was to investigate the sensitivity of clearance variations during dialysis (Paper III).



Fig. 17. The response of clearance reduction in eKt/V during the last session in the week, in comparison with first-and mid-week session (Paper III).

Fig. 17 demonstrates that the relative response of the manipulated clearance reduction is similar for the four methods. The reduction in eKt/V compared to the midweek session were; 18 % for blood, 18 % for dialysate, 17 % for UV-absorbance and 19 % for OCM, respectively. ¹⁴⁶

Estimating Protein Catabolic Rate from Total Removed Urea (Paper II)

A NOTHER PARAMETER DERIVED FROM UREA calculations is the nutrition parameter Protein Catabolic Rate (PCR); which also, like dialysis dose, in different studies has shown to correlate to morbidity and mortality ^{150,151}.

PCR is widely accepted as a marker of protein nutritional status and is equivalent to dietary protein intake in stable dialysis patients ¹⁵². The urea generation rate is not constant over the interdialytic period ¹⁵³ and day-today variations in daily protein intake may result in PCR fluctuating significantly; therefore an average of a seven-day period has been proposed ¹⁵⁴. PCR calculated from Total Removed Urea (TRU) has been studied by Garred et al ¹⁵⁴ and fractional factors of PCR calculations for different treatment days in the week have been developed, enabling the estimation of a seven-day cycle with one dialysis treatment ¹⁵⁴.

In order to transform UV-absorbance (dimensionless) to dialysate-urea (D_{urea}) [mmol/L] a good correlation must exist between the two variables ¹⁴¹. The transformation is based on the regression line between UV-absorbance and D_{urea} (Fig 13).

The regression line from the first dialysis for each patient was used for the subsequent three treatments (not in serial) when calculating TRU and nPCRw.

Total dialysate collection

Total Dialysate Collection (TDC) is often mentioned as the "gold standard" when measuring the total removal of urea ¹⁵⁵. TDC is cumbersome as in clinical routine and sources of error during TDC, such as bacteria producing urease ¹⁴⁵ and dilution from fresh dialysate during bypass mode, have been mentioned ¹⁵⁶, see methodological considerations, page 53.



Fig. 18. The clinical set up in Paper II.

Fig. 18 shows the same set up as in Paper I except for the addition of the tank, equipped with a scale, where all spent dialysate was collected and weighted (Paper II).

Estimation of TRU

One way to estimate TRU, assuming that the dialysate flow, Qd(t), is constant and the total ultra filtration (UF) is known, is to use the following equation ¹⁵⁷:

$$TRU(mmol) = Urea[mean]^* (Qd^*T + UF)$$
(14)

where Urea[mean] in mmol/L is the mean urea concentration in the spent dialysate of the particular haemodialysis session. For the TRU calculations Urea [mean] = D_{total} was utilised, where D_{total} is the urea concentration in the tank at the end of dialysis.

In a similar way TRU may be calculated from the on-line UVabsorbance (TRUa) curve as:

$$TRUa(mmol) = (Slope * MeanA + Intercept)$$

*(Qd * T + UF) (15)

where the MeanA is the mean of all UV-absorbance (A) values from the start to the end of the dialysis, Qd is the rate of the dialysate flow in L/min, T is the dialysis session length in minutes and UF is the total ultra-filtrated volume in L during the session. The regression line between the UV-absorbance and D_{urea} from one on-line measurement gives the Slope and the Intercept inserted in Equation 15 when determining TRUa of the following sessions. TRU from TDC (reference method) was calculated as D_{total} (mmol/L)* collected weight (kg), assuming that 1kg =1L of the dialysate. TRU was also obtained from UM readings. TRU from the three methods was finally compared regarding mean values.

When comparing TRU the calculated values in Paper II were 559 ± 108.50 estimated from UV-absorbance, 632.70 ± 127.79 measured by UM and finally 548.13 ± 126.41 from TDC.

PCR calculated from TRU

The PCR calculation, from TDC and UV-absorbance, was based on a theory by Garred et al ¹⁵⁸, where a calculation of urea removal is expressed as a fraction of the week's urea generation. The fraction varies with the day of the week and was found to be essentially constant among patients on a given day ¹⁵⁸. The amount of urea could therefore be approximated from measuring urea concentration from only one of the three treatments and PCR could be calculated as:

$$nPCRw = Factor 1,2or 3 \left(\frac{TRU1,2or 3}{BW}\right) + 0.17$$
(16)

where TRU 1,2 or 3 (expressed in grams of urea nitrogen) is the TRU from the first (1), midweek (2) or last dialysis in week (3) and Factor 1,2 or 3 is the fractional factor for the first (1), midweek (2) and last treatment (3) of the week respectively; factor 1 = 2.45; 2 = 2.89; $3 = 3.10^{-158}$. Obligatory loss of dietary protein in stools and via skin shedding represents the constant term 0.17 (g protein/kg body weight/day). The dry body weight (BW) was used for normalisation of PCR (nPCRw).

In Paper II a very good agreement between PCR from UV-absorbance and TDC was shown, Table 4.

Table 4 Mean values of $nFCKw$ in $g/kg/uay \pm SD$, Faper II								
	TDC	UV-absorbance	UM					
nPCRw ± SD	0.808 ± 0.175	0.818 ± 0.170	0.869 ± 0.184					

Table 4 Mean values of nPCRw in g/kg/day \pm SD, Paper II

Monitoring clinical events by UV-absorbance (Papers III & IV)

P APER IV (AND EXAMPLES IN PAPER III) IS DESCRIPTIVE and shows that due to the high sampling rate of the UV-absorbance the method is sensitive to different kinds of disturbances, e.g. alarm of conductivity (dialysate in by-pass) artery-, venous pressure (blood-pump stop) and restricted flow in artery needle due to low blood pressure or troubling needle placement. These events are rather common in dialysis treatment and occasionally affect dialysis clearance. In Fig. 19, the UV-response to a blood pressure fall and the following interventions are shown. The UV-absorbance was lowered, even when blood-flow (Qb) was unchanged (195-225 min), most certainly due to difficulties to achieve the pre-set Qb by the dialysis machine.



Figure 19. A period of hypotension, visualised as a decrease in UV-absorbance.

Fig. 20 shows a conductivity alarm resulting in by-pass of dialysis fluid in 10 min. After the interruption a new basline level is seen, most certain due to rebound of solutes during the period of by-pass of dialysate.



Fig. 20. A conductivity alarm of 10 min (arrow), were the dialysate fluid is set automatically in by-pass by the dialysis machine (Paper IV).

The use of UV-absorbance shows the possibilities to not only notify alarm effects as in Fig. 20, but also to give direct feedback after interventions resulting in clearance changes as in Fig. 21. (Paper III)


Figure 21. A troublesome treatment caused by restricted flow in artery needle. Arrows under curve=alarm of low artery pressure and arrows above curve=interventions by needle corrections (Paper III)

New baseline levels in UV-absorbance were observed after the 10-min interruption in Fig. 20 and after the needle corrections in Fig. 21. Manipulation of Qb and dialysate-floe (Qd) has shown to have a very pronounced effect on the UV-absorbance, Fig 22 (Paper III).



Figs. 22. Manipulations of the blood flow (left) and dialysate flow (right) respectively (Paper III) in two different patients. The flow rates are presented in the figure in mL/min.

The new baselines that occur after the flow changes, Fig 22, must be interpreted with care, when calculating Kt/V from the slope. The visualisation of the clearance process is a novel finding by the UV-method and one advantage of using a method with high sampling rate. The earlier

clinically available Urea monitor 1000 (UM) from Baxter Health Corp. IL, USA, suggests a rejection of sessions with 5 or more urea measurements deviating from the expected decay ¹⁵⁹. The clinical benefit of the UV-absorbance system would be to monitor troublesome treatments where dialysis clearance can be adjusted on-line. Probably it is just those troublesome sessions that would have the greatest advantage to be identified and adjusted.

Area under curve as a parameter for dialysis efficiency (Paper V)

BASED ON THE RESULTS OF SLOPE EFFECTS in troublesome treatments with disruptions etc. (Papers III and IV), the need of a more complete parameter of the clearance process is suggested in this chapter. A new parameter i.e. that takes into consideration deviations and interruptions during treatment without mathematical trickiness. In stationary conditions the slope seems to be adequate to use for the Kt/V calculations (paper I). When using the slope, on the dialysate-side, incorrect interpretations can be made if the blood- or dialysate flow is changed during the treatment. In Fig. 23, the effect of a decrease in blood flow is illustrated. The change seen in urea concentration is the opposite on the blood-side compared to the dialysate-side.



Figure 23. The effect of a change in blood flow during dialysis. C_0 = pre dialysis urea concentration, Ct_1 = post dialysis urea concentration without change and Ct_2 = post dialysis urea concentration with change.

The course of events on the dialysate-side is also applicable for the UVabsorbance measurements.

Therefore a hypothesis came up; that Area Under the UV-absorbance Curve at 297 nm AUCa²⁹⁷ could be a reliable parameter that reflects the total clearance of UV-absorbing solutes during a dialysis session.

To investigate this, TDC was performed and samples were taken from the tank at 5, 15, 30, 60, 120, 180 min and at the end. Concentrations of urea, creatinine, urate, phosphate were analysed at the laboratory, which gave the accumulated removal of these solutes at this time. The AUCa²⁹⁷ were calculated in parts at the same time as the samples were taken. Fig 24 shows how the areas were divided when also a dialysate sample was taken from the tank.



Figure 24. AUCa²⁹⁷ divided in sub areas according to the samples taken from the tank, 1 to 7 in the figure. Those sub areas where then correlated to the total removal of the studied solutes.

Correlations were studied between the accumulated parts of AUCa²⁹⁷ and the accumulated total removed solute. The correlation was very high

for each patient (1 or near 1 for the four solutes) and was lower when the correlation was performed in group.

Fig. 25 shows the correlation between four well-known solutes in dialysis treatment and $AUCa^{297}$ in 7 patients (in one dialysis session each).



Fig. 25. The correlation between accumulated areas of $AUCa^{297}$ correlated to accumulated total removal of urea (A), creatinine (B), urate (C) and phosphate (D)

Despite the fact that only one of the solutes, urat is UV-active in the range of 297 nm the total removal of these studied solutes showed an

indication that the correlation between the AUCa²⁹⁷ and urea, creatinine, urate and phosphate is rather high, even at a group level.

The AUCa²⁹⁷ may be a complementary new parameter to evaluate dialysis clearance where events and clearance variations during treatment is included, and may therefore give a more reliable estimation of the total solute clearance compared to existing methods.

General discussion

T HE DIALYSIS MACHINES ANNO 2006 ARE advanced devices of high technology and sophisticated regulatory features. The machines are equipped with monitoring tools for safety 97 ; some manufacturers also have a dialysis efficiency monitoring system such as the ionic dialysance (*ID*) technique even though the equipment is not commonly used in clinical routine.

This thesis demonstrates that UV-absorbance technique utilising the wavelengths 280, 285 and 297 nm, is capable of monitoring dialysis efficiency in terms of Kt/V in the same manner as used worldwide and recommended blood-urea Kt/V, by direct urea quantification monitoring system Biostat 1000 and the *ID*-method (Papers I, III).

The nutrition parameter, PCR (Protein Catabolic Rate), can be estimated by UV-absorbance and agrees well with the "gold standard", the technique for total dialysate collection, namely TDC, (Paper II).

A slightly lower mean eKt/V using UV-absorbance (Papers I, III) has been observed but with similar SD of the difference compared to other methods.

The relative response of the UV-technique to a manipulated clearance reduction is similar in terms of eKt/V compared to other methods (Papers III).

One novel finding using UV-absorbance is the on-line visualisation of the clearance process, for identifying variations in clearance caused by clinical events and disturbances (Fig. 26) as well as during and after adjustments (Papers III-V). Complications related to the interpretation of Kt/V determined by UV-absorbance and other methods were discussed in Papers III, V. Therefore this thesis also suggests a plausible solution to this issue by introducing a new parameter, the area under curve derived from the UV-absorbance on-line measurements (AUCa), which takes into account deviations, interruptions and adjustments during the whole session (Paper V). This was manifested by a good correlation between AUCa and total removal of urea, creatinine, urate and phosphate (Paper V). It will in upcoming research be of utmost importance to investigate the correlation between AUCa and several other solutes with clinical significance in dialysis.

By means of the UV-technique Fridolin et al. (2002) showed a good correlation between UV-absorbance and certain removed solutes, such as urea, creatinine and uric acid, in the spent dialysate and lower correlation for other solutes such as potassium, phosphate and β_2 -microglobulin for every single dialysis session.¹⁴¹ The mean absorbance contribution from every compound is dependent on the used wavelengths. The major contribution to the total absorbance, among the solutes mentioned above, arises from uric acid at the observed wavelengths 280, 285 and 297 nm¹⁴⁴ used in this thesis.

As mentioned above, the eKt/V calculated from UV-absorbance showed a slightly lower mean value compared with eKt/V determined from blood. Possible reasons for the higher values from blood are that several UV-absorbing solutes removed by HD are of a higher molecular weight than urea, known from HPLC studies ⁴⁹⁻⁵⁶ and probably have lower clearance. Data (not published) from in vitro dialysis using spent haemofiltrate and with a fixed volume, V, of 10 L and t of 120 min (n = 10) demonstrated that K determined from UV-absorbance is approximately 10 % lower than for urea, meaning lower Kt/V. In practice, if the purpose is to approach blood urea Kt/V, the mean difference value between blood and UV-absorbance Kt/V values can be eliminated by an algorithm ¹⁶⁰, including dependent parameters such as eKt/V, t, dialyser urea clearance in vitro, dry body weight. Another explanation to the difference is that the number of measuring points that the slope was based which affects the slope calculation (Paper III). If the number was reduced to only max and min Kt/V using UV-absorbance approached that of blood (Paper III).

It is known that the dialyser's permeability affects the solute clearance. The high flux membranes have higher sieving coefficients for molecules of a larger size compared to low flux membranes (Fig. 5). This is an issue that is insufficiently investigated in this study, but the correlation seen between dialysate-urea and UV-absorbance is high independent of the dialyser used (high- or low flux). In a sub-study of 6 patients treated with low flux (n = 6) and within a few weeks with high flux membrane (n = 6), the correlations were near 1 between UV-absorbance and urea in all cases (data not shown). To study removal of higher molecule weight solutes with the UV-technique, one can monitor during haemofiltration, where all solutes and water are removed by convection, which facilitates the transport of larger molecules. Fig. 26 shows one dialysis session when isolated ultrafiltration was performed at the end stage of the dialysis session in order to remove extra fluid from the patient. The low level of UV-absorbance corresponds to a slow clearance rate of solutes that are transported by convection.



Figure 26. Isolated ultra filtration after dialysis treatment (i.e. no dialysis fluid trough the dialyser). A few alams is also seen at 40, 140 and 160 min corresponding to blood pump stops.

Urea is not responsible for the uraemic syndrome itself. ^{26,30} Furthermore, the mortality in the haemodialyis population is still high¹ and the effects of inadequate dialysis are not immediately apparent. It may take up to several years until the effects of sub-optimal therapy appear as long-term effects. This has lead to discussion concerning if other markers are more suitable for evaluation of dialysis efficiency, but some of those markers are unfortunately difficult to dialyse, due to their size or protein binding. Urea as a marker for dialysis efficiency is controversial ¹⁶¹ and as Vanhoder et al

(1995) stated at the NDT Second symposium on uraemic toxins "There is an urgent need to identify new markers replacing urea" ⁴⁰. The search for uraemic toxins has been overestimated without taking into account that a cumulative retention of innumerable compounds is involved ⁴¹. However, one cannot ignore the fact that a relationship between *Kt/V* urea (and *URR*) and mortality and morbidity has been demonstrated in uraemic patients ^{3,4,75-77,162,163} despite the fact that urea is considered to be non-toxic ^{37,164}.

The UV-method, by which can estimate the elimination of other toxic or non-toxic substances that are retained in uraemic patients with potential clinical significance, may overcome the problems with urea. At the same time the monitoring of a large number of UV-absorbing solutes, may give additional information about the dialysis clearance process not assessable with other methods.

If the UV-technique is taken to a clinical implementation, the staff at a dialysis unit must be able to handle the medical considerations; i.e. there must be a balance between medical science, nursing care and monitoring technical facilities, areas that cannot be separated. Only then can the UV-technique be used as a new tool to reach treatment goals evaluated by nephrologists and the dialysis team. This approach may also be suitable for patients treated with home haemodialysis as a monitoring tool both for the patient at home as well as for the staff.

Our studies have shown that the UV-absorbance curve is like a "fingerprint" of each patient's dialysis clearance, which can be used when individual different dialysis settings are to be evaluated. The UV-technique is the first method that has given a profile to the clearance process, not only a path from point A to point B giving a measure (Kt/V), but also information about what is happening to the patients on the way during a dialysis session.

One potential clinical drawback of the UV-method may be interference from other compounds and/or drugs, which can influence the UVabsorbance.

There are technical concerns to take into account when going into a commercial phase. In fact this is already considered during the

development of a prototype UV-monitor manufactured by LDI, Tallinn, Estonia.

Future and development

A question for future work is; can UV-monitoring be used in an intensive care unit, in unstable patients, evaluating dialysis efficiency in acute renal failure, especially intoxications; Perhaps UV-absorbance by itself is more suitable in this patient group compared to urea evaluation.

Other wavelength ranges in the electromagnetic field e.g. visible (VIS) and Near Infra Red (NIR)¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁸ may be of interest for monitoring urea and other compounds.

The ideal monitoring scene in a dialysis clinic or in home dialysis may be a combination of several monitoring modalities. Fig 27 presents a vision of this monitoring system that hopefully can increase the understanding of patient-related processes during dialysis. Information may come via haemodynamic parameters gained from sensing the patient (ECG, blood pressure, bio impedance, optical sensors etc.), dialysis machine parameters and dialysis parameters from the UV-monitor. This information from all sub-parts may separately or by multifactor sampling and analysis approach an optimal dialysis treatment.



Figure 27. A vision of a dialysis monitoring system that considers information from the patient, dialysis machine parameters and solute clearance.

Summary and conclusions

A NEW OPTICAL METHOD for monitoring the solutes in the spent dialysate utilising UV-absorption is presented.

The major findings and advantages are:

- Estimation of dialysis efficiency in terms of Kt/V, nutritional status in terms of protein catabolic rate (PCR).
- Immediate identification of any deviations in dialysis treatment and feedback after adjustments that have an impact on the clearance process.
- The calculation of the area under UV- curve (clearance curve) is suggested to reflect the total removal of solutes.
- A real time continuous, on-line measurement of spent dialysate, which does not require blood samples.

Acknowledgements

IWOULD LIKE TO EXPRESS MY sincere appreciation and gratitude to all of you who in different ways have contributed to make this thesis possible.

Especially thanks to:

With all my respect to all patients that have participated in our clinical experiments, sevreral of whom have followed my research with interest over the years.

Lars-Göran Lindberg, Ass. Professor, my supervisor, for support, and being visionary even during setbacks and turning them into something positive.

Martin Magnusson, MD, PhD, my co-supervisor for bright ideas and steering the focus of the project to clinical applications.

Ivo Fridolin, Ass. Professor, for a perfect introduction to the projekt and for years of learning teamwork, co-authorship and friendship. I think we have grounded a Swedish-Estonian co-oporation.

Anders Fernström, MD, PhD, Head of the Department of Nephrology, for co-authorship, good advice, discussions and for being an understanding boss.

Micael Gylling, RN, for assistance during the Paper V, music discussions and for friendship

Jonas Pettersson, MSc, for co-authorship and computer programming in Paper V.

Stefan Melander, MD, for working together in the initial part of the project and for friendship.

My bosses Annika Eriksson, RN, (formerly Sussane Hellberg, RN), Yvonne Schander, RN, and Ulf Knutsson, RN, for in an easy way having made it possible to spend the time I have needed on my research. My colleagues at the Department of Nephrology, nurses, nephrologists/physicians, staff nurses, secretarial, paramedical and technical staff. Especially thanks to Jan Hedblom, engineer, for valuable technical assistance, Gabriel Almroth, MD, PhD for learning studies outside this thesis, Kit Matthiesen, RN, nursing instructor, for years of shared office room and discussions about important things in life, Emma Herrlander-Törnquist, RN, for taking over my work with clinical trials during a time of extremely high stress.

Staff, PhD-students at the Department of Medicine and Care, Division of Nursing Science. Especially thanks for a warm welcoming to the Department go to Anna Christina Ek, Professor, Mitra Unosson, Professor, Erica Lindén, administrator and Lars-Åke Malmqvist, RN, PhD, for constructive criticism on my frame to this thesis.

Staff, PhD-students at the Department of Biomedical Engineering. Especially thanks to, Per Sveider, engineer, for excellent technical solutions, Per Ask, Professor, formerly project leader, Ann-Katrin Persson, RN, for assistance during data collection in Paper III.

Lindy Gustavsson for through and prompt linguistic corrections.

Thore Falkvall, former collaborator in the early stage of the project.

Olle Eriksson for statistical support.

Staff at the laboratory in University Hospital of Linköping, especially Cathrin Lauritsen for analyses in Paper V.

The Swedish Competence Centre for Non-invasive Medical Measurements, NIMED, for sponsoring the project.

Michael Göransson, JASCO Scandinavia AB, for information and practical solutions consernig spectroscopy.

Per Lagman at MediaCenter for assistance with posters and cover art

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to all of you who have been an essential part of my life though having no direct involvement with this work, still helping me to generate the energy to work on and write this thesis. In particular I would like to mention:

My friends for social meetings during the PhD-student period, especially thanks for social fuel to the Olinder family.

My closest family:

My passed away parents Nils-Gunnar and Marie-Louise Uhlin, I wish you could have joined me in this moment. My brother Magnus and his wife Lena and their Ellen. My parents-in-law, John and Gulli Yngman and my sister-in-law Anna with her family Anders, Nora and Ellen Yngman

Finally, I would like to thank without any hesitation the most important persons in my life, those closest to me. First, my wife Pia, for the patience and support you have given all these years, now it is my turn to support you during your research.

And of course, two invaluable persons in our family, our daughter Rebecca and our son David, reminding me that there are more important things in this life than my work and career; and I hope I will be able to pay back the time that I offered up on research, to come to be of use to you in the future.

Thanks to you all,

Fredrik

References

- 1. SRAU. Svenskt register för aktiv uremivård. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/NR/rdonlyres/028C72CF-3FAF-4C88-8BA1-CF85910CC8BF/5132/SRAU2005.pdf
- 2. FreseniusMedicalCareAG (2006). ESRD Patients in 2005: A Global Perspective, Fresenius Medical Care AG: 11.
- Collins AJ, Ma JZ, Umen A, Keshaviah P. Urea index and other predictors of hemodialysis patient survival. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1994 23:272-282
- 4. Port FK, Ashby VB, Dhingra RK, Roys EC, Wolfe RA: Dialysis dose and body mass index are strongly associated with survival in hemodialysis patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2002; 13:1061-1066
- Lindsay RM, Heidenheim P, Spanner E, Kortas C, Blake PG. Adequacy of hemodialysis and nutrition- important determinats of morbidity and mortality. *Kindey Int* 1994; 45 (suppl 44): S85-S91
- Jindal K, Chan CT, Deziel C et al. Hemodialysis clinical practice guidelines for the Canadian Society of Nephrology, Chapter 1: Hemodialysis Adequacy in Adults. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006 Mar; 17(3 Suppl 1): S1-27.
- Gookin DA, Bragg-Gresham JL, Koenig KG et al. Association of comorbid conditions and mortality in hemodialysis patients in Europe, Japan and the United states: The dialysis outcomes and practice patterns study (DOPPS). *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003; 14: 3270-3277

- Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD et al. Coronary-artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 342: 1478-1483
- 9. Davenport A. Intradialytic complications during hemodialysis. *Hemodial Int* 2006; 10: 162-167
- 10. Shinaberger JH Quantitation of dialysis: Historical perspective. *Sem in Dialysis* 2001; 14(4); 238-245
- Kovacic V, Rogulijic, Jukic I, Kovacic V: Comparison of methods for hemodialysis dose calculation. *Dialysis & Transplantation* 2003; 32 (4): 170-175
- Daugirdas JT: Second generation logarithmic estimates of single-pool variable volume Kt/V: an analysis of error. J Am Soc Nephrol 1993; 4:1205-1213
- Vanholder R, Glorieux G, De Smet R, Lameire N for the Eurpean Uremic Toxine Work Group (EUTox). New insights in uremic toxins. *Kidney Int* 2003; 63 (suppl 84) S6-S10
- Lindsay RM, Heidenheim AP, Spanner E, et al: Urea monitoring during dialysis: the wave of the future. A tale of two cities. *Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs* 1991; 37: 49-53
- Lindqvist, R. Carlsson, M. & Sjödén, P-O. Perceived Consequences of Being a Renal Failure Patient. *Nephrol Nurs J* 2000; 27: (3) 291-298.
- 16. Ziegert K, Fridlund B. Conceptions of life situation among next-of-kin of haemodialysis patients. *J Nurs Manag* 2001 Jul; 9(4): 231-9.
- 17. Moos, R.H. (1984) Coping with physical illness. New York: Plenum Publishing Corporation.
- 18. Killingworth, A. & van den Akker, O. The Quality of Life of renal dialysis patients: trying to find the missing measurement. *Int J Nurs Stud* 1996; 33(1): 107-120.
- Fitzgerald Miller, J. (1992). Coping with Chronic Illness- Overcoming Powerlessness (2nd ed). USA: F.A. Davis Company.
- 20. Beer, J. Body image of patients with ESRD and following renal transplantation. *Br J Nurs* 1995; 4 (10): 591-98.
- Harries, F. Psychosocial care in end-stage renal failur. *Prof Nurse* 1996; 12 (2): 124-126.
- 22. White, Y. & Grenyer, F.S. The biopsycosocial impact of end-stage renal disease: the experience of dialysis patients and their partners. *J Adv Nurs* 1999; 30 (6): 1312-1320.

- Fukuhara S, Lopes AA, Bragg-Gresham JL et al., for the worldwide DOPPS. Health-related quality of life among dialysis patients on three continents: The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Pattern Study. *Kidney Int* 2003; 64: 1903-1910
- 24. Vander AJ, Sherman JH, Luciano DS (eds). Human Physiology 6th edition 1994; McGraw-Hill inc, USA
- 25. Lote CJ. Principles of renal physiology, 4th edition 2000. Kluwer Academic Publisher, Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- 26. Vanholder R, Hsu C, Ringoir S. Biochemical definition of the uremic syndrome and possible therapeutic implications. *Artif Org* 1993; 17(4): 234-239
- 27. Smith T. Renal Nursing. Baillière Tindal (2000), Harcourts Publisher Limited, Bookcraft Ltd, Midsomer Norton Somerset, Great Britain
- Attman P-O and Alvestrand A; in Njurmedicin, textbook in Swedish. Aurell M (red). Liber 2004; pp197
- 29. Bergström J. Uremia is an intoxication. *Kidney Int* 1985; 28 suppl. 17. pp. S-2-S-4.
- 30. Richet G. Early history of uremia. *Kidney Int* 1988; 33. 1013-1015.
- Vanholder R, Pathogenesis of uremic toxicity. In Critical Care Nephrology. Ronco C, Bellomo R (eds) 1998; Kluwer Academic Publisher, The Netherlands.
- 32. Daugirdas JT, Ing TS. In Handbook of dialysis, 2th edition 1994
- 33. Hörl WH: The uremic syndrome and pathophysiology of chronic renal failure. In Hörl WH, Koch KM, Lindsay RM, Ronco C, Winchester JF (eds): Replacement of Renal Function by Dialysis: 2004; pp 57-71. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group
- 34. Linder A, Charra B, Sherrard DJ, Scribner BH. Accelerated atherosclerosis in prolonged maintenance hemodialysis. *N Engl J Med* 1974; 290: 697-701
- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Sarnak MJ. Clinical epidemiology and cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1998; 32(Suppl): S112-119
- Amann K, Ritz C, Adamczak M, Ritz E. Why is coronary heart disease of uremic patients so frequent and so devasting? *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2003; 18: 631-640
- Rigoir S. An update on uremic toxins. *Kidney Int* 1997. 52 suppl. 62 pp. S-2-S-4.

- Vanholder RC, de Smet R, Lameir NH: Uremic toxicity.
 In Hörl WH, Koch KM, Lindsay RM, Ronco C, Winchester JF (eds): Replacement of Renal Function by Dialysis 5th edition. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, 2004, pp 15-55
- 39. Man N-K, Terlain B, Paris J, Werner G, Sausse A, Funck-Bertano J-L: An approach to "middle molecules" identification in artificial kidney dialysate, with reference to neuropathy prevention. *Trans Amer Soc Artif Int Organs* 1973; 320-324
- Vanholder R, Van Loo A, Dhont AM, Glorieux G, De Smet R, Ringoir S. Second symposium on uraemic toxicity. Summary of a symposium held in Gent, Belgium, 22-24 September 1994. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 1995, 10: 414-418
- R.Vanholder, A Shoots and S Ringoir. Uremic toxicity. In: Mahler JF, ed. Replacement of renal function by dialysis. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic, 1989: 4-19.
- 42. Vanholder R, In Critical Care Nephrology, Ronc C, Bellomo R (eds). Kluwer Academic Publisher Netherlands, 1998.
- 43. Satoh M et al. Uremic toxins overload accelerates renal damage in a rat model of chronic renal failure. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* 2003; 95: 111-118
- Motojima M, Hosokawa A, Yamato H, Muraki T, Yoshioka T: Uremic toxins of organic anions up-regulate PAI-1 expression by induction of NK-κB and free radical in proximal tubular cells. *Kidey Int* 2003; 63:1671-1680
- 45. Fagugli RM, de Smet R, Buoncristiani U, Lameire N, Vanholder. Behaviour of non-protein-bound and protein-bound uremic solutes during daily hemodialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2002; 40:339-347.
- 46. Vanholder R, De Smet R, Lameire N. Protein-bound uremic solutes: the forgotten toxins. *Kidney Int* Suppl 2001; 78: 266-270 Review
- 47. Jankowski J, van der Giet M, Jankowski V et al. Increased plasma phenylacetic acid in patients with end-stage renal failure inhibits iNOS expression. *J Clin Invest* 2003; 112:256-264
- 48. Dou L, Bertrand E, Cerini C et al. The uremic solutes p-cresol and indoxyl sulfate inhibit endothelial proliferation and wound repair. *Kidney Int* 2004; 65: 442-451.
- 49. Schoots A, Homan H, Gladdines M, et al: Screening of UV-absorbing solutes in uremic serum by reversed phase HPLC--change of blood levels in different therapies. *Clin Chim Acta* 1985; 146: 37-51

- 50. Gordon A, Berström J, Fürst P, Zimmerman L: Separation and characterization of uremic metabolites in biologic fluids: a screening approach to the definition of uremic toxins. *Kidney Int* 1975; 2:45-51
- Asaba H, Fürst P, Oules R, et al: The effect of hemodialysis on endogenous middle molecules in uremic patients. *Clin Nephrol* 1979; 11: 257-266
- Grof J, Menyhart J: Molecular weight distribution, diffusibility and comparability of middle molecular fractions prepared from normal and uremic sera by different fractionation procedures. *Nephron* 1982; 30: 60-67
- 53. Brunner H, Mann H: Combination of conventional and highperformance liquid chromatographic techniques for the isolation of socalled "uraemic toxins". *J Chromatogr* 1984; 297: 405-416
- 54. Mabuchi H, Nakahashi H: Determination of 3-carboxy-4-methyl-5propyl-2- furanpropanoic acid, a major endogenous ligand substance in uremic serum, by high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. *J Chromatogr* 1987; 415: 110-117
- 55. Vanholder RC, De Smet RV, Ringoir SM: Assessment of urea and other uremic markers for quantification of dialysis efficacy. *Clin Chem* 1992; 38:1429-1436
- 56. Vanholder R, De Smet R, Jacobs V, et al: Uraemic toxic retention solutes depress polymorphonuclear response to phagocytosis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 1994; 9: 1271-1278
- 57. Michaels AS. Operating parameters and performance criteria for haemodialyzers and other membrane-separation devices. *Am Soc Artif Int Organs* 1966; 12: 387-392
- Sargent JA, Gotch F: Principles and biophysics of dialysis: in Drukker W, Parsons FM, Maher JF (eds): Replacement of Renal Function by Dialysis, 2th edition 1986, pp 53-96: Martinius Nijhoff Publishers
- Depner T, Garred L: Solute Transport mechanisms in dialysis in Hörl WH, Koch KM, Lindsay RM, Ronco C, Winchester JF (eds): Replacement of Renal Function by Dialysis. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, 2004, pp 73-93
- 60. Lameire N, Metha (eds). Complication of dialysis 2000, Markel Dekker, Inc, USA
- 61. Asif A, Leon C, Meririll D et al. Arterial steal syndrome: A modest proposal for an old paradigm. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2006; 48: 88-97

- National Kindney Foundation. K-DOQI Clinical practice guidlines for hemodialysis adequacy: update 2000. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2001; 37(Supp. 1) 1): S7-64
- 63. European Best Practice Guidelines Expert Group on Hemodialysis, European Renal Association (ERA). Section II. Haemodialysis adequacy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2002; 17 Suppl 7: 16-31
- 64. Svensk njurmedicinsk förening. Riktlinjer för omhädertagande av patienter med njursvikt. http://www3.svls.se/sektioner/nm/Nyheter.htm.
- 65. Gotch FA, Sargent JA: A mechanistic analysis of the National Cooperative Dialysis Study (NCDS). *Kidney Int* 1985; 28: 526-534
- 66. Owen Jr WF, Lew NL, Liu Y, Lowrie EG, Lazarus JM. The urea reduction ratio and serum albumin concentrations as predictors of mortality in patients undergoing hemodialysis N Engl J Med 1993; 329:1001-1006
- 67. Gotch FA, Sargent JA: A mechanistic analysis of the National Cooperative Dialysis Study (NCDS). *Kidney Int* 1985; 28: 526-534
- 68. Barth RH: Direct calculation of KT/V. A simplified approach to monitoring of hemodialysis. *Nephron* 1988; 50:191-195
- 69. Daugirdas JT: Simplified equations for monitoring Kt/V, PCRn, eKt/V, and ePCRn. *Adv Ren Replace Ther* 1995; 2:295-304
- 70. Pedrini LA, Zereik S, Rasmy S: Causes, kinetics and clinical implications of post-hemodialysis urea rebound. *Kidney Int* 1988; 34: 817-824
- 71. Daugirdas JT, Smye SW: Effect of a two compartment distribution on apparent urea distribution volume. *Kidney Int* 1997; 51: 1270-1273
- 72. Santoro A: Confounding factors in the assessment of delivered hemodialysis dose. Kidney Int 2000; 58: S19-27
- 73. HEMOStudyGroup, Daugirdas JT, Depner TA, et al: Comparison of methods to predict equilibrated Kt/V in the HEMO Pilot Study. *Kidney Int* 1997; 52:1395-1405
- 74. Schneditz D, Daugirdas JT. Formal analytical solution to a regional blood flow and diffusion based urea kinetic model. *ASAIO J* 1994; 40(3): M667-73
- 75. Hakim R, Breyer J, Ismail N, Schulman G: Effects of dose of dialysis on morbidity and mortality. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1994; 23: 661-669
- 76. Keshaviah P, Collins AJ, Ma JZ, Churchill DN, Thorpe KE: Survival comparison between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis based on

matched doses of delivered therapy. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2002; 13 Suppl 1: S48-52

- 77. Held P, Port F, Wolfe R, et al: The dose of hemodialysis and patient mortality. *Kidney Int* 1996; 50: 550-556
- Shohat J, Boner G: Adequacy of hemodialysis 1996. Nephron 1997; 76: 1-6
- 79. Santoro A: Confounding factors in the assessment of delivered hemodialysis dose. Kidney Int 58:S19-27, 2000
- Bosch JP: Beyond "adequate dialysis". Am J Kidney Dis 35 (2):xlvi-xlviii, 2000
- Charra B, Depner TA, Vanholder R, et al: Is Kt/V urea a satisfactory measure for dosing the newer dialysis regimens? Semin Dial. 14:8-21, 2001
- 82. Eknoyan G, Beck GJ, Cheung T et al. Hemodialysis (HEMO) Study Group. Effect of dialysis dose and membrane flux in maintenance hemodialysis. *N Eng J Med* 2002; 347: 2010-2019.
- Elangovan L, Shinaberger CS, Kraut JA, Shinaberger JH: HEMO equilibrated Kt/V goals are difficult to achieve in large male patients. *ASAIO J* 2001, 47: 235-239
- DeSoi CA, Umans JG, Phospate kinetics during high-flux hemodialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1993; 4: 1214-1218
- 85. Schneditz D, Daugirdas JT: Compartment effects in hemodialysis. *Semin Dialysis* 2001; 14: 271-277
- Guillaume J, Charra B, Chazot C, Laurent G: Quest for postdialysis urea rebound-equilibrated Kt/V with only intradialytic samples. *Kidney Int* 1999; 56: 1149-1153
- 87. Pedrini LA, Zereik S, Rasmy S: Causes, kinetics and clinical implications of post-hemodialysis urea rebound. *Kidney Int* 1988; 34: 817-824
- 88. Daugirdas JT, Smye SW: Effect of a two compartment distribution on apparent urea distribution volume. *Kidney Int* 1997; 51: 1270-1273
- 89. Daugirdas JT, Greene T, Depner TA, Leypold J, Gotch F, Schulman G, Star R for the HEMO Study Group: Factors that affect postdialysis rebound in serum urea concentration, including rate of dialysis: Result from the HEMO study. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2004; 15: 194-203
- 90. Vanholder R, In Critical Care Nephrology Eidors Ronc C, Bellomo R. Kluver Academic Publisher Netherlands, 1998.
- 91. Castro MC, Romao JE, Jr., Marcondes M: Measurement of blood

urea concentration during haemodialysis is not an accurate method to determine equilibrated post-dialysis urea concentration. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2001; 16: 1814-1817

- Canaud B, Bosc JY, Leblanc M, et al: A simple and accurate method to determine equilibrated post-dialysis urea concentration. *Kidney Int* 1997; 51: 2000-2005
- 93. Kloppenburg WD, Stegeman CA, De Jong PE, Huisman RM: Anthropometry-based equations overestimate the urea distribution volume in hemodialysispatients. *Kidney Int* 2001; 59: 1165-1174
- 94. Goldau R, Kuhlmann U, Samadi N et al: Ionic dialysance measurements is ureadistribution volume dependent: A newapproach to get better results. *Int J Artif Organs* 2002; 26: 321-332
- 95. Wuepper A, Tattersall J, Kraemer M, Wilkie M, Edwards L. Determination of urea distribution volume for Kt/V assessed by conductivity monitoring. *Kidney Int* 2003; 64: 2262-2271
- Locatelli F, Buoncristiani U, Canaud B, Koher H, Peticlerc T Zucchelli P: Haemodialysis with on-line monitoring equipment: tools or toys. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2005; 20: 23-33
- 97. Lindsay RM, Schneditz D: On-line monitoring and feedback-control in Hörl WH, Koch KM, Lindsay RM, Ronco C, Winchester JF (eds): Replacement of Renal Function by Dialysis 2004, pp 555-584. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group
- Lindsay RM, Heidenheim AP, Spanner E, et al: Urea monitoring during dialysis: the wave of the future. A tale of two cities. *Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs* 1991; 37: 49-53
- Garred L, DiGiuseppe B, Chand W, McCready W, Canaud B: KT/V and protein catabolic rate determination from serial urea measurement in the dialysate effluent stream. *Artif Organs* 1992; 16: 248-255
- Shohat J, Boner G: Adequacy of hemodialysis 1996. Nephron 1997; 76: 1-6
- 101. Hernandez-Herrera G, Martin-Malo A, Rodriguez M, Aljama P: Assessment of the length of each hemodialysis session by on-line dialysate urea monitoring. *Nephron* 2001; 89: 37-42
- 102. Santoro A: On-line monitoring. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 1995; 10: 615-618

- 103. Canaud B, Bosc J, Leblanc M, et al: On-line dialysis quantification in acutely ill patients: preliminary clinical experience with a multipurpose urea sensor monitoring device. ASAIO J 1998; 44: 184-90
- 104. Canaud B, Bosc J, Leblanc M, et al: Evaluation of high-flux hemodiafiltration efficiency using an on-line urea monitor. Am J Kidney Dis 1998, 31: 74-80
- 105. Polaschegg HD. Automatic, non-invasive intradialytic clearance measurement. *Int J Artif Organs* 1993; 16: 185-191
- 106. Lim P, Lee H, Kho B, et al: Evaluation of pre- and postdilutional on-line hemodiafiltration adequacy by partial dialysate quantification and on-line urea monitor. *Blood Purif* 1999; 17: 199-205
- 107. Gambro: DQM 200. Operators Manual, Gambro GmbH, 1997, pp 7:4
- Sternby J: Whole body urea kinetics. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 1998; 36: 734-739
- 109. Baxter H: Urea Monitor 1000. The direct method for urea kinetic modelling, Baxter Healthcare Inc., 1997, pp 75
- Jurkiewicz M, Sole S, Almirall J, et al: Validation of an automatic urea analyser used in the continuous monitoring of hemodialysis parameters. *Analyst* 1996; 121: 959-963
- 111. Keshaviah P, Ebben J, Emerson P: On-line monitoring of the delivery of the hemodialysis prescription. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1995; 9 Suppl: S2-S8
- 112. Canaud B, Bosc J, Leblanc M, et al: Evaluation of high-flux hemodiafiltration efficiency using an on-line urea monitor. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1998;31: 74-80
- 113. Lim P, Lee H, Kho B, et al: Evaluation of pre- and postdilutional on-line hemodiafiltration adequacy by partial dialysate quantification and on-line urea monitor. *Blood Purif* 1999; 17: 199-205
- 114. Chiari L, Cappello A, Tartarini R, Paolini F, Calzavara C: Model-based dialysis adequacy prediction by continuous dialysate urea monitoring. *Int* J Artif Organs 1998; 21:526-534
- 115. Keshaviah PR, Ebben JP, Luhring D, Emerson PF, Collins A: Clinical evaluation of a new on-line monitor of dialysis adequacy. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1992; 3: 374
- 116. Bosticardo G, Avalle U, Giacchino F, Molino A, Alloatti S: Accuracy of an on-line urea monitor compared with urea kinetic model and direct dialysis quantification. *ASAIO J* 1994; 40: M426-M430

- 117. Ronco C, Brendolan A, Crepaldi C, et al: On-line urea monitoring: a further step towards adequate dialysis prescription and delivery. *Int J Artif Organs* 1995; 18: 534-543
- Alloatti S, Molino A, Manes M, Bonfant G, GM B: On-line dialysate urea monitor: comparison with urea kinetics. *Int J Artif Organs* 1995; 18: 548-552
- 119. Lee W, Tsai C, Huang C, et al: Assessment of dialysis adequacy using the dialysate urea monitor: preliminary experience of the dialysate urea monitor. *Ren Fail* 1997; 19: 789-797
- 120. Marshall MR, Santamaria P, Collins JF: Biostat 1000 and Daugirdas blood-based hemodialysis quantification: agreement and reproducibility. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1998; 31:1011-1018
- 121. Sternby J: Whole body Kt/V from dialysate urea measurements during hemodialysis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1998; 9: 2118-2123
- 122. Petitclerc T, Bene B, Goux N, Vantard G, Jacobs C: Non-invasive estimation of sodium mass transfer during hemodialysis session. Paper presented at the *ASAIO 39th Ann. Meet.* 1993; April 29-30 and May 1
- 123. Di Filippo S, Andrulli S, Manzoni C, Corti M, Locatelli F: On-line assessment of delivered dialysis dose. *Kidney Int* 1998; 54: 263-267
- Mercadal L, Petitclerc T, Jaudon M, et al: Is ionic dialysance a valid parameter for quantification of dialysis efficiency? *Artif Organs* 1998; 22: 1005-1009
- 125. Manzoni C, Di Filippo S, Corti M, Locatelli F: Ionic dialysance as a method for the on-line monitoring of delivered dialysis without blood sampling. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 1996; 11: 2023-2030
- Locatelli F, Di Filippo S, Manzoni C, et al: Monitoring sodium removal and delivered dialysis by conductivity. *Int J Artif Organs* 1995; 18: 716-721
- 127. Coevoe B, Aazib L, Peticlerc T, Chlih B, Brasseur J: Quality control of hemodialysis by the conductimetric method (abstr). *Kidney Int* 1996; 50
- 128. Lindsay RM, Bene B, Goux N, Heidenheim A, Landgren AP, Sternby J. Relationship between effective ionic dialysance and in vivo urea clearance during hemodialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2001; 38: 565-74
- 129. Mercadal L, Du Montcel ST, Jaudon MC et al: Ionic dialysance vs urea clearance in the absence of cardiopulmonary recirculation. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2002; 17: 106-11

- Di Filippo S, Manzoni C, Andrulli S, et al: How to determine ionic dialysance for the on-line assessment of delivered dialysis dose. *Kidney Int* 2001; 59: 774-782
- Kuhlmann U, Goldau R, Samadi N, et al: Accuracy and safety of on-line clearance monitoring based on conductivity variation. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2001, 16: 1053-1058
- 132. Petitclerc T, Goux N, Reynier AL, Bene B: A model for non-invasive estimation of in vivo dialyzer performances and patient's conductivity during hemodialysis. *Int J Artif Organs* 1993; 16: 585-591
- 133. Petitclerc T, Bene B, Jacobs C, Jaudon MC, Goux N: Non-invasive monitoring of effective dialysis dose delivered to the hemodialysis patient. Nephrol Dial Transplant 10:212-216, 1995
- 134. Polaschegg H: On-line dialyzer clearance using conductivity. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1995; 9: S9-S11
- 135. Steil H, Kaufman A, Morris A, Levin N, Polaschegg H: In vivo verification of an automatic noninvasive system for real time Kt evaluation. ASAIO J 1993; 39: M348-M352
- Fresenius: OCM. On-line Clearance Monitor. Operating instructions for 4008 H7S Dialysis Machines, Fresenius Medical Care, 2000, pp 2-12
- 137. Horgan J. Quantum philosophy. Scientific Am 1992; 72-80
- Glasser Oe: Medical Physics. Chicago. Illinois, The Year Book Inc., 1961
- Hahn B, Vlastelica DL, Snyder LR, Furda J, Rao KJ: Polychromatic analysis: new applications of an old technique. Clin Chem 1979; 25:951-959
- 140. Zwart A, Buursma A, van Kampen EJ, Zijlstra WG: Multicomponent analysis of hemoglobin derivatives with reversed-optics spectrophotometer. *Clin Chem* 1984; 30: 373-379
- Fridolin I, Magnusson M, Lindberg L-G: On-line monitoring of solutes in dialysate using absorption of ultraviolet radiation: technique description. *Int J Artif Organs* 2002; 25: 748-761
- 142. Gal G, Grof J: Continuous UV photometric monitoring of the efficiency of hemodialysis. *Int J Artif Organs* 1980; 3: 338-341
- 143. Gal G, Grof J, Kiss E: Continuous monitoring of the efficiency of haemodialysis by recording the UV transmittance of the dialysis solution. *Acta Chir Hung* 1983; 24: 231-239

- 144. Fridolin I, Lindberg LG: On-line monitoring of solutes in dialysate using wavelenght-dependent absorbing of ultraviolet radiation. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2003; 41: 263-270
- 145. Depner TA, Greene T, Gotch FA, Daugirdas JT, Keshaviah PR, Star RA, The Hemodialysis study group: Imprecision of the hemodialysis dose when measure directly from urea removal. *Kidney Int* 1999; 55: 635-647
- 146. Uhlin F, Fridolin I, Magnusson M, Lindberg L-G: Dialysis dose (Kt/V) and the sensivity of clearance variation using; on-line measurement of the UV-absorbance, inonic dialysance, dialysate-urea and blood-urea. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2006; Aug 21(8): 2225-2231
- 147. Uhlin F, Fridolin I, Lindberg L-G, Magnusson M: Estimation of total removed urea and protein catabolic rate by on-line monitoring of the UVabsorbance in the spent dialysate. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2005; 11: 2458-2464
- 148. Gotch FA, Keen ML: Care of the patient on hemodialysis, in Cogan MG, Schoenfeld P (eds): Introduction to Dialysis (2nd ed.). New York Edinburgh London Melbourne Tokyo, Churchill Livingstone Inc., 1991, pp 101-176
- 149. Uhlin F, Fridolin I, Lindberg L-G, Magnusson M: Estimation of delivered dialysis dose by on-line monitoring of the ultra violet absorbance in the spent dialysate. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2003; 41:1026-1036
- 150. Lindsay RM, Heidenheim AP, Spanner E, Spanner E, Kortas C, Blake PG: Adequacy of hemodialysis and nutrition-Important determinants of morbidity and mortality. *Kidney Int* 1994; 45 Suppl. 44 :S49-53
- 151. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Supasyndh O, Lehn RS, McAllister CJ, Kopple JD: Normalized protein nitrogen appearance is correlated with hospitalization and mortality in hemodialysis patients with Kt/V greater than 1.20. J Ren Nutr 2003; 13: 15-25
- 152. Canaud B, Leblanc M, Garred LJ, Bosc J-Y, Argilés À, Mion C: Protein catabolic rate over lean body mass ratio: a more rational approach to normalize the protein catabolic rate in dialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1997; 30: 672-679
- 153. Lopot F, Kotyk P, Bláha J, Válek A: Analysis of the urea generation rate and the protein catabolic rate in hemodialyzed patients. *Artif Organs* 1995; 19:832-836

- 154. Garred LJ, Canaud B, Argriles A, Flavier JL, Mion C: Protein catabolic rate determination from a single measurement of dialyzed urea. ASAIO J ;1995; 41: M804-M809
- 155. Noiri E, Masaki I, Fujino K, Tsuchiya M: Efficacy of a continuous syringe extraction method for monitoring hemodialysis ultrafiltrate. ASAIO J 2000; 46:461-463
- 156. Canaud B, Bosc JY, Leblanc M et al: On-line dialysis quantification in acutely ill patients. *ASAIO J* 1998; 44:184-190
- 157. Raj DSC, Tobe S, Saiphoo C, Manuel MA: Quantitating dialysis using two dialysate samples: a simple, practical and accurate approach for evaluating urea kinetics. *Int J Artif Organs* 1997; 20:422-427
- 158. Garred LJ, Canaud B, Argriles A, Flavier JL, Mion C: Protein catabolic rate determination from a single measurement of dialyzed urea. *ASAIO J* ; 1995.41:M804-M809
- Depner T, Keshaviah P, Ebben J, et al: Multicenter clinical validation of an on-line monitor of dialysis adequacy. J Am Soc Nephrol 1996; 7:464-471
- 160. Fridolin I, Uhlin F, Lindberg L-G, Magnusson M. Accurate estimation of delivered dialysis dose by on-line ultra violet absorbance in the spent dialysate. European Renal Association- European Dialysis and Transplantation Association, ERA-EDTA, Jul, 2006, Glasgow, United Kingdom
- Vanholder R. Low molecular weight uremic toxins. In Critical Care Nephrology Eidors Ronc C, Bellomo R. Kluver Academic Publisher Netherlands, 1998.
- 162. Lowrie EG, Laird NM, Parker TF, Sargent JA: Effect of the hemodialysis prescription of patient morbidity. Report from the National Cooperative Dialysis Study. N Engl J Med 1981; 305:1176-1181
- 163. Lowrie EG, Zhu X, Lew NL: Primary associates of mortality among dialysis patients: trends and reassessment of Kt/V and urea reduction ratio as outcome-based measures of dialysis dose. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1998; 32: S16-S31
- Dhondt A, Vanholder R, Biesen WV, N.Lameire: The removal of uremic toxins. *Kidney Int* 2000; 58: S47-59
- 165. Eddy CV, Arnold MA. Near-infrared spectroscopy for measuring urea in hemodialysis fluids. *Clinical Chemistry* 2001; 47(7): 1279-1286

- 166. Eddy CV, Flanigan M, Arnold MA. Near-infrared spectroscopic measurement of urea in dialysate samples collected during hemodialysis treatments. *Appl Spectrosc 2003*; 57(10): 1230-1235
- Olesberg JT, Arnold MA, Flanigan MJ. On-line measurement of urea concentration in spent dialysate during hemodialysis. *Clinical Chemistry* 2004; 50(1): 175-181
- 168. Jensen PS, Bak J, Ladefoged S, Andersson-Engels S, Friis-Hansen L. Online monitoring of urea concentration in dialysate with dual-beam Fourier-transform near-infrared spectroscopy. *J Biomed Opt* 2004 May-Jun; 9(3): 553-7.